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It is my pleasure to present to you the 2019 
Annual Report for the PNG Sustainable 
Development Program, including the 
independently audited accounts for the year.

PNG SDP is currently focused on providing 
lasting benefits for the people of Western 
Province. These programs are aligned with the 
Provincial Government’s 5-Year Development 
Plan.  Our aim is to complement and 
supplement the work of government and other 
agencies. 

We fund these programs using income earned 
by the Long Term Fund in accordance with the 
Program Rules.

Presented in this report is an overview of our 
current programs and the Long Term Fund. 

PNG SDP’s Development Programs:

We are currently focusing our programs in 
health, education, livelihoods and enabling 
infrastructure in the Western Province.

We seek to implement our programs efficiently 
and effectively and to this end, our lean 
organisation is staffed primarily by talented 
Papua New Guineans in our Port Moresby, 
Daru and Balimo offices.

We deliver our programs by working with 
partners who have the experience and expertise 
to deliver efficiently, with good governance 
and transparency. We also aim to maximise 
the training and employment opportunities for 
people from the Western Province.

Specific programs are:

Health: 

 » In mid 2019, we launched the Aerial 
Health Patrols where teams visit remote 

communities by plane to deliver primary 
health care (vaccination, WASH programs, 
family planning, outpatient clinics and other 
health care services). A second plane is on 
order so that we can access other remote 
areas across the province as more airstrips 
are refurbished. 

 » We fund organisations such as Marie Stopes 
(family planning); World Vision (WASH); and 
RAM (malaria management) to deliver their 
services in Western Province. 

 » We are funding water filtration systems in 
Daru to provide clean water from existing 
bores. Two were completed in 2019 and 
the remaining six will be completed during 
2020. 

 » Recently the Board approved funding 
to refurbish the full town water supply in 
Daru and this will be undertaken following 
agreement with the Provincial Government 
and PNG Water.

 » We are looking to complement the Aerial 
Health Patrols with waterborne patrols to 
deliver the same services to communities 
along the lakes and river system. This will 
be developed in 2020 for a 2021 start up.

 » We also funded the construction of a water 
supply line from the water treatment plant 
at Kiunga to Sare village in Ward 5.

Education:

 » We have invested in school infrastructure 
having recently funded 40 new classrooms 
and one staff house which were constructed 
in 2019.

 » The Board recently approved funding for 
the refurbishment works at the Kiunga 
Secondary School and St Gabriel’s 
Technical Secondary School. We intend to 

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE iii

provide refurbishments for other Western 
Province High Schools in the coming years.

 » School project fees totalling K10 million 
were funded in 2019 (in addition to the 
2018 funding). In 2020, we are conducting 
a detailed review with all schools to ensure 
this funding is wisely spent. Progress on 
this has been slowed due to the COVID 19 
travel restrictions.

 » In 2019, we funded the Balimo campus 
start-up. The initial enrolment of 105 FODE 
students in 2019 has been increased to 
210 this year.

 » The Balimo campus will be developed 
further as an accredited tertiary institution 
to train health workers and teachers from 
Western Province.

 » SDP is also funding a modern e-learning 
initiative to deliver education to remote 
areas through the 4G telecommunications 
network. During 2019, we distributed 9,000 
tablets, each loaded with a 7000-book 
digitised library and other carefully selected 
content modified for the PNG context and 
the PNG curriculum. This “proof of concept” 
was trialled in 38 schools with both teachers 
and students receiving specialised training 
in the use of this modern technology. The 
program is now being refined and expanded 
during 2020.

Livelihoods:

 » Our Daru hatchery is being rebuilt to restock 
the river system and to then support a 
commercial aquaculture industry for food 
security and exports.

 » A professionally managed agricultural and 
aquaculture project is being developed 
around Oriomo and on Daru. It will grow 
vanilla and black pepper initially with the 
potential to diversify into other crops. 
The aquaculture will produce barramundi 
before expanding into other fish products. 
The business will create jobs for 250 
employees and 500 smallholder families 
who will grow and sell their crops which will 
be exported through the centralised facility.

 » SDP funded the establishment of extensive 

smallholder rubber plantings around Lake 
Murray. These trees are now reaching 
maturity and we now want to initiate a 
program to support these smallholders with 
a professionally managed extension service 
and improved logistics to provide regular cup 
lump collections. The aim is to demonstrate 
that the Western Province rubber industry 
can be made commercially viable without 
ongoing subsidies.  Discussions with North 
Fly Rubber need to be concluded to enable 
this initiative to proceed. 

 » We expect the Balimo campus training 
efforts will prepare people from Western 
Province for employment in the Province 
as teachers and health workers.

Enabling Infrastructure:

 » SDP is funding the refurbishment and 
ongoing maintenance of all 77 rural airstrips 
in the Province. Work on more than half has 
now been completed and the remaining 
ones will become operational in 2021. 

 » We have fully funded the technical upgrade, 
geographic expansion and ongoing 
maintenance of the telecommunication 
network in the Province. The new 4G 
system (which was completed in 2019) is 
being used to facilitate service innovations 
such as e-learning and telehealth.

 » SDP is funding the building of a new 
Kiunga airport terminal. This was approved 
in 2019 and this work will be undertaken 
during 2020.

 » We are funding an upgrade to the Balimo 
road (to connect the town to the campus). 
This has been approved and this work will 
be undertaken in 2020.

 » We are seeking to provide a reliable power 
solutions and are currently working on the 
technical specifications and regulatory 
issues. Balimo is a smaller and simpler 
project which we are aiming to pursue 
straight away. Daru is more expensive and 
complex from a technical and regulatory 
perspective and will therefore take longer 
and require co-funding which we will 
actively seek. 
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We will continue to consult widely in the 
Western Province to ensure our programs 
are having positive and lasting benefits and 
develop additional project opportunities for the 
future.

The Long Term Fund:

PNG SDP manages its Long Term Fund in a 
careful and professional manner with guidance 
from world class experts. The fund is maintained 
as a low risk investment by adopting carefully 
formulated diversification measures.

This “low-risk” investment policy is a 
requirement under the Program Rules. It also 
generates the income needed to fund our 
development programs. 

The performance of the Long Term Fund is 
detailed in the attached independently audited 
accounts. In summary, the fund grew from 
US$1.35b to US$1.49b after transferring 
$45 million to the Development Fund for our 
development programs.

Global financial markets have been severely 
impacted in early 2020 as a result of COVID 
19. We are pleased to say that our careful 
investment and diversification policy has 
minimised the impact on the Long Term Fund 
and we are well positioned to take advantage 
of opportunities arising from the current 
conditions.

Looking Forward:

Now that the Singapore Supreme Court has 
ruled in our favour, we can focus on delivering 
lasting benefits for the people of Western 
Province.

We will continue to implement our 
development programs in close consultation 
with communities in Western Province and 
other organisations actively engaged in the 
Province.

This year has been impacted by the COVID 19 
virus. However, we are maintaining momentum 
on all existing programs while broadening 
our health programs to assist with the virus 
response. To this end, we have:

 » purchased and made personal protective 
equipment and delivered it to communities, 
health workers and police/defence force 
employees

 » increased our WASH programs to improve 
hygiene within communities

 » provided awareness training and 
communication in preventative measures 
to avoid the virus

 » supported the Balimo hospital and created 
a triage centre for anyone showing 
symptoms of the virus.

We are very conscious that the health 
requirements in the Western Province are 
much broader than the COVID 19 virus and 
we have obtained dispensation for our Aerial 
Health Patrols to keep operating.

Last year we welcomed Mr Robert Alphonse 
Kaiyun to the Board. Board succession has 
continued recently with the appointment of:

 » Mr David Wong to replace Mr Lim How 
Teck as our Singapore-based Director.

 » Mr Greg Ridder as the third A Director.

Both David and Greg are experienced 
international business leaders with extensive 
Board, finance and development experience. 

In addition, PNG SDP is actively looking to 
increase the number of Papua New Guinea 
Directors and further announcements will be 
made shortly.

We are now in a position to build momentum 
of our programs as we continue to protect 
and grow the Long Term Fund for the benefit 
both the current and future generations of 
communities in the Western Province.

Sincerely,

Philip Bainbridge 
Chairman, Board of Directors



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE v

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



PAGE vi | ANNUAL REPORT 2019

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

(Incorporated in Singapore. Registration Number: 200106898W)

ANNUAL REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE 1

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
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The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited financial 
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and the balance sheet 
of the Company as at 31 December 2019, the statement of comprehensive income and the 
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
In the opinion of the directors,  
 
(a) the statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set 
out on pages 7 to 71 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of the financial 
performance and changes in equity of the Group and of the Company and cash flows 
of the Group for the financial year covered by the financial statements; and 

 
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company 

will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows: 
 
Philip James Bainbridge   
Lim How Teck    
David Sode 
Sir Wilson Kamit CBE  
Betty Lovai                              
John Malcolm Wylie 
Robert Alphonse Kaiyun   (Appointed on 11 June 2019)           
Gregory Werner James Ridder   (Appointed on 30 March 2020) 
Wong Cheong Fook David Cecil Vivian (Appointed on 3 April 2020) 
 
 
Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures 
 
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, any other body corporate. 
 
 
Directors’ interests in shares, debentures and share options 
 
The Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital, debentures, share options or 
unissued shares. None of the directors had any interest in the shares, debentures or share 
options of any related corporations. 
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Independent Auditor 
 
The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to 
accept re-appointment. 
 
 
  
On behalf of the directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PHILIP BAINBRIDGE 
Director 

 SIR WILSON KAMIT 
Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
LIM HOW TECK 
Director (Audit Committee Chairman) 

  

 
21 May 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PNG Sustainable 
Development Program Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are properly 
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2019 and of the financial performance of the Group and the Company, changes in 
equity of the Group and the Company and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the financial 
year ended on that date. 
 
What we have audited 
 
The financial statements of the Company and the Group comprise: 
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2019; 
• the statement of comprehensive income of the Company for the financial year ended 31 

December 2019; 
• the balance sheet of the Group as at 31 December 2019; 
• the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2019; 
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group for the financial year then 

ended; 
• the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended; 
• the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; 

and  
• the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory 
Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting 
Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED (continued) 

 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ Statement but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are 
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true 
and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED (continued) 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED (continued) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED (continued) 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
Singapore, 21 May 2020 
 

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  Group Company 

 
 

Note 
2019 
US$ 

2018 
US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 
US$ 

       
Revenue       
Investment income 4 190,857,893 21,788,059  190,424,944 20,428,021 
Revenue from other activities, net 4 2,694,861 3,304,378  - - 
  193,552,754 25,092,437  190,424,944 20,428,021 
Expenses       
Other investment losses 5 (1,255,142) (51,534,611)  (1,255,142) (51,534,611) 
Governance costs 5 (1,058,805) (1,066,439)  (983,366) (956,742) 
Administration costs 5 (6,305,481) (6,002,312)  (1,417,148) (1,448,198) 
Fund management costs 5 (3,250,249) (6,186,873)  (3,250,249) (6,186,873) 
  (11,869,677) (64,790,235)  (6,905,905) (60,126,424) 
Operating surplus/(deficit) before 
  development program costs  181,683,077 (39,697,798)  183,519,039 (39,698,403) 
       
Development program costs 5 (29,991,956) (32,406,885)  (29,991,956) (32,406,885) 
       
Impairment (loss)/gain on financial assets  (1,384,394) 603,426  (611,574) (1,929,974) 
       
Other losses – net 5 (753,851) (2,010,598)  - - 
       
Share of results of joint venture 11 77,753 73,890  - - 
       
Surplus/(deficit) before income tax  149,630,629 (73,437,965)  152,915,509 (74,035,262) 
       
Income tax expense  7 (2,194,688) (2,370,560)  (1,886,360) (1,787,873) 
        
Surplus/(deficit) from operations  147,435,941 (75,808,525)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
Other comprehensive deficit:       
Currency translation difference arising from 

consolidation       
    - Losses  (84,269) (194,225)  - - 
  (84,269) (194,225)  - - 
       
       
Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)   147,351,672 (76,002,750)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
Surplus/(deficit) from operations  
  attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company  148,028,608 (75,611,884)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
Non-controlling interests  (592,667) (196,641)  - - 
  147,435,941 (75,808,525)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) 
  attributable to:        
Equity holders of the Company  147,938,848 (75,795,230)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
Non-controlling interests  (587,176) (207,520)  - - 
  147,351,672 (76,002,750)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
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Income tax expense  7 (2,194,688) (2,370,560)  (1,886,360) (1,787,873) 
        
Surplus/(deficit) from operations  147,435,941 (75,808,525)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
Other comprehensive deficit:       
Currency translation difference arising from 

consolidation       
    - Losses  (84,269) (194,225)  - - 
  (84,269) (194,225)  - - 
       
       
Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)   147,351,672 (76,002,750)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
Surplus/(deficit) from operations  
  attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company  148,028,608 (75,611,884)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
Non-controlling interests  (592,667) (196,641)  - - 
  147,435,941 (75,808,525)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) 
  attributable to:        
Equity holders of the Company  147,938,848 (75,795,230)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
Non-controlling interests  (587,176) (207,520)  - - 
  147,351,672 (76,002,750)  151,029,149 (75,823,135) 
       
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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  Group Company 

 
 

Note 
2019 
US$ 

2018 
US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 
US$ 

       
ASSETS       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 8 56,863,387 106,421,393  51,071,441 102,472,233 
Financial assets, at amortised cost 9 16,209,028 35,969,078  - - 
Other receivables 10 2,226,384 6,922,925  37,888,130 49,647,078 
Current income tax assets 7 277,935 597,546  - - 
  75,576,734 149,910,942  88,959,571 152,119,311 
       
Non-current assets       
Financial assets, at FVPL 9 1,424,542,965 1,226,101,240  1,424,542,965 1,226,101,240 
Other receivables 10 15,980,150 11,006,228  - - 
Investments in joint ventures 11 4,380,016 4,392,023  - - 
Investments in subsidiaries 12 - -  6,789,692 2 
Property, plant and equipment 13 10,290,356 200,808  2,575,047 200,808 
  1,455,193,487 1,241,700,299  1,433,907,704 1,226,302,050 
Total assets  1,530,770,221 1,391,611,241  1,522,867,275 1,378,421,361 
       
LIABILITIES        
Current liabilities       
Sundry creditors and accruals 14 14,283,527 23,345,215  1,905,131 8,488,366 
Provisions for employee leave  264,957 354,463  - - 
  14,548,484 23,699,678  1,905,131 8,488,366 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Deferred income tax liability 15 26,838 86,516  - - 
Total liabilities  14,575,322 23,786,194  1,905,131 8,488,366 
       
NET ASSETS  1,516,194,899 1,367,825,047  1,520,962,144 1,369,932,995 
       
CAPITAL EMPLOYED AND RESERVES       
Members’ subscriptions 16 17 17  17 17 
Funds, comprises:  1,510,624,995 1,362,596,387  - - 
- General Fund 17 - -  - - 
- Long Term Fund 17 - -  1,483,657,526 1,349,371,594 
- Development Fund 17 - -  37,304,601 20,561,384 
Foreign currency translation reserve  5,168,470 5,258,230  - - 
  1,515,793,482 1,367,854,634  1,520,962,144 1,369,932,995 
Non-controlling interests  401,417 (29,587)  - - 
Total equity  1,516,194,899 1,367,825,047  1,520,962,144 1,369,932,995 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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10 

 
 

Note 

Members’ 

subscriptions 

General 

Fund 

Long Term 

Fund 

Development 

Fund Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Company       
2019       
Balance at 1 January 2019  17 - 1,349,371,594 20,561,384 1,369,932,995 
       
Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)  17 - (2,400,514) 181,686,446 (28,256,783) 151,029,149 

Transfer between funds  - 2,400,514 (47,400,514) 45,000,000 - 

End of financial year  17 - 1,483,657,526 37,304,601 1,520,962,144 
       

       
2018       
Balance as at 31 December 2017  17 - 1,407,152,434 39,995,912 1,447,148,363 
       
Adoption of FRS 109  - - - (1,392,233) (1,392,233) 
       
Balance at 1 January 2018  17 - 1,407,152,434 38,603,679 1,445,756,130 

       
Total comprehensive deficit 17 - (2,422,170) (40,358,670) (33,042,295) (75,823,135) 

Transfer between funds  - 2,422,170 (17,422,170) 15,000,000 - 

End of financial year  17 - 1,349,371,594 20,561,384 1,369,932,995 

 

The allocation of revenues and expenses and transfers from the General Fund to the Long 

Term Fund and the Development Fund are determined in accordance with the rules of the 

Company (Note 2.1.12). 

 

 

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  2019 2018 

 Note US$ US$ 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Surplus/(deficit) from operations  147,435,941 (75,808,525) 

Adjustments for:    

 - Income tax expense  2,194,688 2,370,560 

 - Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets, at FVPL  (168,788,568) 51,534,611 

 - Interest income  (11,253,936) (10,558,747) 

 - Share of profit of joint ventures  (77,753) (73,890) 

 - Impairment loss/(gain) on financial assets  1,384,394 (603,426) 

 - Unrealised currency translation losses/(gains)  5,491 (21,472) 

  (29,099,743) (33,160,889) 

Change in working capital:    

 - Other receivables  (1,661,775) 4,986,490 

 - Sundry creditors and accruals  (9,151,194) 3,396,706 

Cash generated from operations  (39,912,712) (24,777,693) 

    

Interest received  11,253,936 10,558,747 

Withholding and other taxes paid  (1,934,755) (3,853,318) 

Purchases of financial assets, at FVPL  (1,099,482,378) (1,048,007,745) 

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets, at FVPL  1,089,589,271 1,082,793,410 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (40,486,638) 16,713,401 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Additions to property, plant and equipment  (10,089,548) - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (10,089,548) - 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests  1,018,180 - 

Net cash provided by financing activities  1,018,180 - 

    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (49,558,006) 16,713,401 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year 8 106,421,393 89,707,992 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 8 56,863,387 106,421,393 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

financial statements. 

 

 

1. General information 

 
PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited (“PNGSDP” or the “Company”) is 

incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The address of its principal place of business 

is Level 1, Harbourside West Building, Stanley Esplanade, PO Box 1786, Port Moresby, 

Papua New Guinea. The address of its registered office is 10 Collyer Quay, #10-01 

Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315. 

 

The principal activities of the Company are to promote sustainable development within 

Papua New Guinea, and advance the general welfare of the people of Papua New 

Guinea, particularly those of the Western Province of Papua New Guinea, through 

supporting programs and projects in accordance with the Program Rules. 

 

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 12. 

 

 

2.1 Significant accounting policies 
 

2.1.1 Basis of preparation 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards (“FRS”) under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed 

in the accounting policies below. 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management 

to exercise its judgement when applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires 

the use of accounting estimates and assumptions. Areas involving significant 

judgements, complexities, assumptions and estimates are disclosed in Note 3. 

 

As disclosed in Notes 3(b), 11, 19(b) and 19(c) the Company is in dispute with the 

Government of Papua New Guinea (“PNG Government”). On 2 April 2019, the 

Company received a favourable ruling on the actions brought against it by the PNG 

Government in Singapore High Court. The PNG Government subsequently lodged an 

appeal on the initial ruling with the Singapore Court of Appeal and on 30 April 2020 the 

Court passed a judgement which upheld the previous ruling in favour of the Company. 

Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Group 

is a going concern. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 

The Group has restructured its operations and reduced its ongoing administration 

expenditure. These financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Group 

retains its control over the recorded assets of the Group at balance sheet date and 

continues to manage those assets in accordance with the Program Rules for the 

foreseeable future.   

 

(a) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2019 
 

On 1 January 2019, the Group has adopted the new or amended FRS and 

Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are mandatory for application for the 

financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as 

required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS 

and INT FRS.  

 

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in 

substantial changes to the accounting policies of the Group and the Company 

and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior 

financial years. 

 

(b) Adoption of FRS 116 Leases 
 

When the Group is the lessee 

Prior to the adoption of FRS 116, non-cancellable operating lease payments 

were not recognised as liabilities in the balance sheet. These payments were 

recognised as rental expenses over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 

Management has assessed that the adoption of FRS 116 did not result in a 

material impact at the date of adoption and for the year ended 31 December 

2019 and accordingly the effects of adoption have not been reflected in the 

financial statements.  

 
2.1.2 Revenue recognition 

 

(a) Dividend income 

 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established, 

it is probable that the economic benefit associated with the dividend will flow to 

the Group, and the amount of the dividend can be reliably measured.  

 

(b) Interest income 

 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 

The Group has restructured its operations and reduced its ongoing administration 

expenditure. These financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Group 

retains its control over the recorded assets of the Group at balance sheet date and 

continues to manage those assets in accordance with the Program Rules for the 

foreseeable future.   

 

(a) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2019 
 

On 1 January 2019, the Group has adopted the new or amended FRS and 

Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are mandatory for application for the 

financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as 

required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS 

and INT FRS.  

 

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in 

substantial changes to the accounting policies of the Group and the Company 

and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior 

financial years. 

 

(b) Adoption of FRS 116 Leases 
 

When the Group is the lessee 

Prior to the adoption of FRS 116, non-cancellable operating lease payments 

were not recognised as liabilities in the balance sheet. These payments were 

recognised as rental expenses over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 

Management has assessed that the adoption of FRS 116 did not result in a 

material impact at the date of adoption and for the year ended 31 December 

2019 and accordingly the effects of adoption have not been reflected in the 

financial statements.  

 
2.1.2 Revenue recognition 

 

(a) Dividend income 

 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established, 

it is probable that the economic benefit associated with the dividend will flow to 

the Group, and the amount of the dividend can be reliably measured.  

 

(b) Interest income 

 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1.3 Group accounting 
 

(a) Subsidiaries  
 

(i)  Consolidation 

 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the 

Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 

exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 

the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 

which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from 

the date on that control ceases. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, 

balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group entities 

are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered 

an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations 

and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to the interests which are 

not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. 

They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 

of financial position. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the 

non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a 

subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 

deficit balance. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

(ii)  Acquisitions 

 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business 

combinations by the Group. 

 

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 

comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 

and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration 

transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 

arrangement and any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary 

measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair 

value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 

 

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of 

any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the (b) fair value of the 

net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to 

Note 2.1.6 for the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

(ii)  Acquisitions 

 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business 

combinations by the Group. 

 

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 

comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 

and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration 

transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 

arrangement and any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary 

measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair 

value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 

 

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of 

any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the (b) fair value of the 

net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to 

Note 2.1.6 for the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

(iii)  Disposals  

 

When a change in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary 

results in a loss of control over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities 

of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that 

entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to 

retained earnings if required by a specific Standard. 

 

Any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the retained investment at 

the date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

 

Please refer to Note 2.1.4 for the accounting policy on investments in 

subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the Company. 

 

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests  
 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in 

a loss of control over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with 

equity owners of the Company. Any difference between the change in the 

carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the 

consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 

attributable to the equity holders of the Company. 

 

(c) Joint ventures 
 

Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control as a result of 

contractual arrangements, and rights to the net assets of the entities. 

 

Joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using 

the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any. 

 

(i) Acquisitions 

 

Investments in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost. The cost of 

an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity 

instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of 

exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on 

joint ventures represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the joint 

venture over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net 

assets of the joint venture and is included in the carrying amount of the 

investments. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(c) Joint ventures (continued) 

 
(ii) Equity method of accounting 

 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially 

recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise Group’s share 

of its joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in 

profit or loss and its share of movements in other comprehensive 

income of the investee’s other comprehensive income. Dividends 

received or receivable from the joint ventures are recognised as a 

reduction of the carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s 

share of losses in a joint venture equals to or exceeds its interest in the 

joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 

legal or constructive obligations to make, or has made, payments on 

behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports 

profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only 

after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised. 

Interest in a joint venture includes any long-term loans for which 

settlement is never planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. 

 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint 

ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the joint 

ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions 

provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The 

accounting policies of joint ventures are changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 

(iii) Disposals 

 

Investments in joint ventures are derecognised when the Group loses 

significant influence or joint control. If the retained equity interest in the 

former joint venture is a financial asset, the retained equity interest is 

measured at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of 

the retained interest at the date when joint control is lost, and its fair 

value and any proceeds on partial disposal, is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

 

Please refer to the Note 2.1.4 “Investments in subsidiaries and joint 

ventures” for the accounting policy on investments in joint ventures in 

the separate financial statements of the Company. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(c) Joint ventures (continued) 

 
(ii) Equity method of accounting 

 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially 

recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise Group’s share 

of its joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in 

profit or loss and its share of movements in other comprehensive 

income of the investee’s other comprehensive income. Dividends 

received or receivable from the joint ventures are recognised as a 

reduction of the carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s 

share of losses in a joint venture equals to or exceeds its interest in the 

joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 

legal or constructive obligations to make, or has made, payments on 

behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports 

profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only 

after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised. 

Interest in a joint venture includes any long-term loans for which 

settlement is never planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. 

 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint 

ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the joint 

ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions 

provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The 

accounting policies of joint ventures are changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 

(iii) Disposals 

 

Investments in joint ventures are derecognised when the Group loses 

significant influence or joint control. If the retained equity interest in the 

former joint venture is a financial asset, the retained equity interest is 

measured at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of 

the retained interest at the date when joint control is lost, and its fair 

value and any proceeds on partial disposal, is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

 

Please refer to the Note 2.1.4 “Investments in subsidiaries and joint 

ventures” for the accounting policy on investments in joint ventures in 

the separate financial statements of the Company. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.4 Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
 

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are carried at cost, less accumulated 

impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of such investments, 

the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments 

are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

2.1.5 Property, plant and equipment  
 

(a) Measurement 
 

(i) Land and buildings 

 

Land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Buildings and 

leasehold land are subsequently carried at their costs less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

(ii) Other property, plant and equipment 

 

All other items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised 

at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and accumulated impairment losses. Constructions-in-progress are 

accounted for at cost and subsequently reclassified to completed asset 

upon completion. 

 

(iii) Components of costs 

 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised 

includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to 

bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

 

(b) Depreciation 

 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using a straight-

line method to allocate their depreciable amounts of plant and equipment over 

their estimated useful lives. The annual rates used for this purpose are as 

follows: 

 

        Annual Rates % 

 

 Motor vehicles   20 

Leasehold improvements   33
1
/3 

Buildings     2 

Leasehold land   Nil 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

(b) Depreciation (continued) 

 

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, 

plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each 

balance sheet date.  The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss 

when the changes arise. 

 
(c) Subsequent expenditure 

 

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has 

already been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when 

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Repair and maintenance expense are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

 

(d) Disposal 
 

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between 

the disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.  
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

(b) Depreciation (continued) 

 

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, 

plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each 

balance sheet date.  The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss 

when the changes arise. 

 
(c) Subsequent expenditure 

 

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has 

already been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when 

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Repair and maintenance expense are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

 

(d) Disposal 
 

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between 

the disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.  
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 
2.1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures   

 

Property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are 

tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these 

assets may be impaired. 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair 

value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis 

unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those 

from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to 

which the asset belongs. 

 

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. 

 

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as 

an impairment loss in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in 

which case, such impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 

An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in 

the estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset is increased to its 

revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or 

depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  

 

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the 

asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a 

revaluation increase.  However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same 

revalued asset was previously recognised in profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment 

is also recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 

2.1.7 Income taxes 
 

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected 

to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Management 

periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 

applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where 

appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements 

except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 

 

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on 

investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, except where the 

Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and tax losses 

can be utilised. 

 

Deferred income tax is measured: 

 

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax 

asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates 

and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 

sheet date; and 

 

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the 

Group and the Company expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover or settle 

the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities. 

 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expenses in profit or 

loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination 

or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from 

business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 

2.1.7 Income taxes 
 

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected 

to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Management 

periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 

applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where 

appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements 

except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 

 

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on 

investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, except where the 

Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and tax losses 

can be utilised. 

 

Deferred income tax is measured: 

 

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax 

asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates 

and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 

sheet date; and 

 

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the 

Group and the Company expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover or settle 

the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities. 

 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expenses in profit or 

loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination 

or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from 

business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 
2.1.8 Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow 

of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 

estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

 
2.1.9 Employee compensation 
 

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless they can be capitalised as an 

asset. 
 

(a) Defined contribution plans 
 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the 

Group and the Company pays fixed contributions into separate entities such as 

National Superannuation Fund and will have no legal or constructive obligation 

to pay further contributions if any of the funds does not hold sufficient assets to 

pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and 

preceding financial years.  The Group and the Company contributions to defined 

contribution plans are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are 

due.   

 

(b) Employee leave entitlements 

 

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised 

when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability 

for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to the balance sheet date at the future expected cost. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 
2.1.10 Currency translation  
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency  
 

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group and the 

Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”).  The financial 

statements are presented in United States Dollar (“US$”) which is the 

Company’s functional currency. 

 
(b) Transactions and balances 

 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign 

currency”) are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance 

sheet date are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise from borrowings in 

foreign currencies, other currency instruments designated and qualifying as net 

investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations.  Those currency 

translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve in the 

consolidated financial statements and transferred to profit or loss as part of the 

gain or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.   

 

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined. 

 
(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements 

 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has 

the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency 

different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 

currency as follows: 

 

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented 

are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; 

(ii) Income and expenses for each statement comprehensive income are 

translated at average exchange rates; and 

(iii) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the 

foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 
2.1.10 Currency translation  
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency  
 

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group and the 

Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”).  The financial 

statements are presented in United States Dollar (“US$”) which is the 

Company’s functional currency. 

 
(b) Transactions and balances 

 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign 

currency”) are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance 

sheet date are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise from borrowings in 

foreign currencies, other currency instruments designated and qualifying as net 

investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations.  Those currency 

translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve in the 

consolidated financial statements and transferred to profit or loss as part of the 

gain or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.   

 

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined. 

 
(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements 

 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has 

the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency 

different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 

currency as follows: 

 

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented 

are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; 

(ii) Income and expenses for each statement comprehensive income are 

translated at average exchange rates; and 

(iii) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the 

foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 
2.1.11 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and 

cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, treasury bills, commercial papers 

and certificates of deposit, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, 

and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented as current borrowings in the 

balance sheet. For cash subjected to restriction, assessment is made on the economic 

substance of the restriction and whether they meet the definition of cash and cash 

equivalents. 

 

2.1.12 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund  
 

In pursuing its objectives, the Company is able to invest and utilise its available 

resources from the Long Term Fund, the Development Fund and General Fund in 

accordance with the Rules of the Company. 

 
Long Term Fund 
 

The Long Term Fund represents 2/3 of net income received from Ok Tedi Mining 

Limited after deducting operating expenses and all other legal contractual obligations 

as specified in the rules of the program relating to the application of the income 

received. 

 

Funds from the Long Term Fund must be invested to achieve low risk for the aggregate 

investment portfolio. 

 

Before the mine closure date, investment income from the Long Term Fund will be used 

in the following order of priority: 

 

(a) Operating expenses for next 6 months in accordance with the budget approved 

by the Board from time to time. 

 

(b) To the extent the amounts under Rules clauses 9.2 (b) and 9.3 (b) and that part 

of the commitment which is undrawn are insufficient, to meet contractual 

obligations. 

 

(c) To the extent the amount under clause 9.2 (c) is insufficient, if determined by 

the Board, to meet a call by Ok Tedi Mining Limited in accordance with clause 

12 (further capital requirements by Ok Tedi Mining Limited),with the balance to 

be added to and form part of the Long Term Fund. 

 

The Program Rules are applied taking into account that the Company no longer 

receives dividends from Ok Tedi Mining Limited and neither does the Company have 

any continuing obligations relating to Ok Tedi Mining Limited. 

 

An annual budget is prepared and submitted to the Board of Directors for review and 

actual operating expenditure is monitored progressively against the approved budget. 

The budget is approved taking into account the Program Rules under clause 9.3 

applicable to the funding of operating expenses from investment income received by 

the Company on the Long Term Fund prior to mine closure.  
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 

2.1.12 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund (continued) 

 

Long Term Fund (continued) 

 

After mine closure the funds will be applied in the following order of priority: 

 

(a) Operating expenses for next 6 months in accordance with the budget approved 

by the Board from time to time. 

 
(b) To the extent that distributions and investment income received after the mine 

closure date are insufficient to meet contractual obligations as they fall due for 

payment.  

 

(c)  Calls from Ok Tedi Mining Limited (on Shareholders). 

 

(d) To fund Sustainable Development Purposes in proportions to be determined by 

the Board of Directors in accordance with Rules clause 10.4. 
 

Development Fund 
 

The fund is to be used to support and fund programs and projects which promote 

sustainable development in accordance with the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable 

Development Program” scheduled to and forming part of the Articles of Association of 

the Company. 

 

The Development Fund represents 1/3 of income received from OK Tedi Mining Limited 

investments after deducting operating expenses and all other contractual obligations as 

specified in the rules relating to the application of income received. 

 

In accordance with Rules clause 9.2 (e), the funds are to be applied as follows: 

 

(a) 1/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of 

Association of the Company and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit of 

the people of Western Province; and 

 

(b) 2/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of 

Association of the Company and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit of 

the people of Papua New Guinea. 

 

These funds will be used mainly to fund projects covering core areas in health, 

education, capacity building, economic development, infrastructure community self-

reliance, local community leadership and institutional capacity and other social and 

environmental purposes for the benefit of the people of Papua New Guinea, in 

particular, the people of the Western Province. 

 

An annual budget including development expenditure is prepared and submitted to the 

Board of Directors for review and actual expenditure is monitored progressively against 

the approved budget. The budget is approved taking into account the funds available 

for use in the Development Fund. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 

2.1.12 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund (continued) 

 

Long Term Fund (continued) 

 

After mine closure the funds will be applied in the following order of priority: 

 

(a) Operating expenses for next 6 months in accordance with the budget approved 

by the Board from time to time. 

 
(b) To the extent that distributions and investment income received after the mine 

closure date are insufficient to meet contractual obligations as they fall due for 

payment.  

 

(c)  Calls from Ok Tedi Mining Limited (on Shareholders). 

 

(d) To fund Sustainable Development Purposes in proportions to be determined by 

the Board of Directors in accordance with Rules clause 10.4. 
 

Development Fund 
 

The fund is to be used to support and fund programs and projects which promote 

sustainable development in accordance with the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable 

Development Program” scheduled to and forming part of the Articles of Association of 

the Company. 

 

The Development Fund represents 1/3 of income received from OK Tedi Mining Limited 

investments after deducting operating expenses and all other contractual obligations as 

specified in the rules relating to the application of income received. 

 

In accordance with Rules clause 9.2 (e), the funds are to be applied as follows: 

 

(a) 1/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of 

Association of the Company and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit of 

the people of Western Province; and 

 

(b) 2/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of 

Association of the Company and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit of 

the people of Papua New Guinea. 

 

These funds will be used mainly to fund projects covering core areas in health, 

education, capacity building, economic development, infrastructure community self-

reliance, local community leadership and institutional capacity and other social and 

environmental purposes for the benefit of the people of Papua New Guinea, in 

particular, the people of the Western Province. 

 

An annual budget including development expenditure is prepared and submitted to the 

Board of Directors for review and actual expenditure is monitored progressively against 

the approved budget. The budget is approved taking into account the funds available 

for use in the Development Fund. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1.12 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund (continued) 

 
General Fund 

 

In accordance with clause 14 of the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable Development 

Program”, a yearly budget of administration costs must be prepared and approved by 

the Board of Directors. 

 

The budget prepared for each year after the third year of the Program must reflect that 

the portion of the operating expenses attributable to the operation of the Company (but 

not to the running of the Program) should not exceed 15% of the average annual income 

of the Program during the immediate preceding 3 accounting years. 

 
The administration costs cover the normal operating expenses of the Company and of 

the Program including (without limitation) establishment costs, Directors’ fees, the cost 

of Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, expenditure of the program manager and 

the program manager’s remuneration, and any tax payable by the Company. 

 

2.1.13  Grants  
 

Grants provided to subsidiaries, joint ventures and third parties are expensed in the 

period in which the grants are released. 

 
2.1.14  Financial assets  

 

(a)  Classification and measurement 

 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement 

categories: 

 

� Amortised cost; and  

� Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

 

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the 

financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial 

assets. 

 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety 

when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and 

interest. 

 

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business 

model for managing those assets changes. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1.14 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a)  Classification and measurement (continued) 

 

At initial recognition 

 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, 

in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss 

are expensed in profit or loss. 

 

At subsequent measurement 

 

(i) Debt instruments 

 

Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade 

and other receivables, listed and unlisted debt securities and equity 

investments. 

 

There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on 

the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 

characteristics of the asset: 

 

� Amortised cost: Debt instruments that are held for collection of 

contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 

payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. 

A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured 

at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is 

recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or 

impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 

interest income using the effective interest rate method. 

 

� FVPL: Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those 

that do not meet the criteria for classification as amortised cost or 

FVOCI are classified as FVPL. Movement in fair values and interest 

income is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises 

and presented in revenue in “fair value gains/losses on financial 

assets, at FVPL”. 

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE 27

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

 

27 

2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1.14 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a)  Classification and measurement (continued) 

 

At initial recognition 

 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, 

in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss 

are expensed in profit or loss. 

 

At subsequent measurement 

 

(i) Debt instruments 

 

Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade 

and other receivables, listed and unlisted debt securities and equity 

investments. 

 

There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on 

the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 

characteristics of the asset: 

 

� Amortised cost: Debt instruments that are held for collection of 

contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 

payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. 

A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured 

at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is 

recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or 

impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 

interest income using the effective interest rate method. 

 

� FVPL: Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those 

that do not meet the criteria for classification as amortised cost or 

FVOCI are classified as FVPL. Movement in fair values and interest 

income is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises 

and presented in revenue in “fair value gains/losses on financial 

assets, at FVPL”. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1.14 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a)  Classification and measurement (continued) 

 

At subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

(ii) Equity investments 

 

The Group subsequently measures all its equity investments at their fair 

values. Equity investments are classified as FVPL with movements in 

their fair values recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the 

changes arise and presented in revenue in “fair value gains/losses on 

financial assets, at FVPL”. Dividends from equity investments are 

recognised in profit or loss as “dividend income”. 

 

(b) Impairment 

 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses 

associated with its debt financial assets carried at amortised cost. The 

impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk. Note 20 details how the Group determines 

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 

 

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by 

FRS 109, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial 

recognition of the receivables. 

 

For cash and cash equivalents and other receivables, the general 3 stage 

approach is applied. Credit loss allowance is based on 12 month expected credit 

loss if there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the 

assets. If there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 

lifetime expected credit loss will be calculated and recognised. 

 

(c)  Recognition and derecognition 

 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade 

date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 

the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

 

On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount 

and the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified 

to profit or loss. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1.14 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(c)  Recognition and derecognition (continued) 

 

On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying 

amount and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no election 

made to recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive income. If there 

was an election made, any difference between the carrying amount and sales 

proceed amount would be recognised in other comprehensive income and 

transferred to retained profits along with the amount previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income relating to that asset. 

 

2.1.15 Trade and other payables 
 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 

Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current 

liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of 

the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 

 

 

3.   Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
 

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below. 

 

(a) Financial assets, at FVPL 

 
The Group and the Company uses market or quoted prices to fair value its 

financial assets. In cases where market or quoted prices are not used, fair value 

is determined by using valuation techniques and a set of key assumptions that 

are subject to change depending on the market conditions prevailing at the time 

in which fair value is determined. Furthermore, the Group and the Company 

follows guidance of FRS 109 to classify financial assets as financial assets, at 

FVPL. The current classification is based on the premise that these financial 

assets are managed on a portfolio basis and traded accordingly. Prevailing 

market conditions could change resulting in reassessment of the current 

classification. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1.14 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(c)  Recognition and derecognition (continued) 

 

On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying 

amount and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no election 

made to recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive income. If there 

was an election made, any difference between the carrying amount and sales 

proceed amount would be recognised in other comprehensive income and 

transferred to retained profits along with the amount previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income relating to that asset. 

 

2.1.15 Trade and other payables 
 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 

Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current 

liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of 

the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 

 

 

3.   Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
 

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below. 

 

(a) Financial assets, at FVPL 

 
The Group and the Company uses market or quoted prices to fair value its 

financial assets. In cases where market or quoted prices are not used, fair value 

is determined by using valuation techniques and a set of key assumptions that 

are subject to change depending on the market conditions prevailing at the time 

in which fair value is determined. Furthermore, the Group and the Company 

follows guidance of FRS 109 to classify financial assets as financial assets, at 

FVPL. The current classification is based on the premise that these financial 

assets are managed on a portfolio basis and traded accordingly. Prevailing 

market conditions could change resulting in reassessment of the current 

classification. 
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3.   Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued) 

 

(b)  Contingent assets 

 

The Company is involved in significant litigation with the PNG Government. On 

19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the Mining 

(Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively 

expropriated all of PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi 

Mining Limited and transferred the 63.4% ownership previously held by 

PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 

 

The Company disputes the expropriation of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and 

continues to seek restitution of the shares or compensation in respect of the 

shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited taken over by the PNG Government through 

the enactment of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 

2013. 

 

The directors are of the view that the Company has a strong case. As such the 

Company has disclosed this matter as a contingent asset. The value of the 

contingent asset is yet to be ascertained and is estimated to be representing 

the fair value of its investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited as at 19 September 

2013 upon expropriation of its shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited, together with 

unpaid dividends that PNGSDP estimates would have been payable up until 19 

September 2013. 

 

The eventual outcome of the court cases (referred in Note 2.1.1) as well as any 

compensation which may be awarded in favour of the Company is uncertain 

and could be significantly different from that anticipated by the directors. 
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4. Revenue 
 
  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Interest income from commercial 

papers, certificates of deposits, 

bonds and cash balances 8,826,124 10,558,747  8,393,175 9,198,709 

 Fair value gains on financial 

assets, at FVPL 170,046,381 -  170,046,381 - 

  Dividend income 11,985,388 11,229,312  11,985,388 11,229,312 

  190,857,893 21,788,059  190,424,944 20,428,021 

       

       

 Revenue from other activities      

 Interest income 2,427,812 2,753,897  - - 

 Fee and deposit services income 267,049 550,481  - - 

  2,694,861 3,304,378  - - 

 Total revenue 193,552,754 25,092,437  190,424,944 20,428,021 

 
Dividends relates to dividends received from In-house Managed Funds (Note 9). 
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4. Revenue 
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5. Expenses 
 
  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Other investment losses      

 Fair value losses on financial assets, 

at FVPL - 45,864,599  - 45,864,599 

 Foreign exchange loss on local 

investments 1,255,142 5,670,012  1,255,142 5,670,012 

  1,255,142 51,534,611  1,255,142 51,534,611 

       

 Governance costs      

 Board of directors’ fees 634,131 687,194  611,622 639,419 

 Board administration 177,368 163,238  177,368 154,853 

 Audit fees 140,830 143,063  87,900 89,526 

 Annual report meeting expenses 3,932 1,591  3,932 1,591 

 Company secretary 80,314 69,347  80,314 69,347 

 Annual report 2,000 2,006  2,000 2,006 

 Advisory council fees 20,230 -  20,230 - 

  1,058,805 1,066,439  983,366 956,742 

       

 Administration costs      

 Employee compensation (Note 6) 2,420,280 2,671,569  313,894 192,194 

 Professional services 496,664 479,821  321,610 437,264 

 Travel 250,351 280,012  183,722 232,585 

 Insurance 217,493 217,718  164,395 159,333 

 Office rent and security expenses 1,063,808 1,286,319  82,652 129,070 

 Information services 308,191 389,339  111,185 57,690 

 Advertising and media cost 39,644 93,035  11,045 48,014 

 Motor vehicle expenses 97,143 141,241  7,730 11,991 

 Repairs and maintenance 119,187 61,552  - 8,492 

 Other expenses 1,292,720 381,706  220,915 171,565 

  6,305,481 6,002,312  1,417,148 1,448,198 

       

 Fund management costs      

 Investment service fees** 2,415,666 3,112,519  2,415,666 3,112,519 

 Professional services 834,583 3,074,354  834,583 3,074,354 

  3,250,249 6,186,873  3,250,249 6,186,873 

 

 Development program costs 29,991,956 32,406,885  29,991,956 32,406,885 

  29,991,956 32,406,885  29,991,956 32,406,885 

       

 Other losses – net 
Foreign currency exchange   

   loss, net  753,851 2,010,598  - - 

  753,851 2,010,598  - - 

 

       

 Total expenses 42,615,484 99,207,718  36,897,861 92,533,309 

 

** Investment service fees charged to the Long Term Fund and Development Fund were 

US$3,214,949 (2018: US$6,123,868) and US$35,300 (2018: US$63,005), respectively. 
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6. Employee compensation 

 
  Group  Company 

  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Wages and salaries 2,135,698 2,404,781  257,707 174,897 

 

Other employee benefits and 

costs 

 
83,446 

 

79,369  
 

30,700 
 

- 

 Employer's contribution to       

  defined contribution plans 201,136 187,419  25,487 17,297 

  2,420,280 2,671,569  313,894 192,194 

 
Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in Note 21. 

 

 

7. Income tax  
 

(a) Income tax expense 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Tax expense attributable 

to the operating surplus 

is made up of:      

 Current income tax  2,254,366 2,284,044  1,886,360 1,787,873 

 Deferred income tax (59,678) 86,516  - - 

  2,194,688 2,370,560  1,886,360 1,787,873 

 
The tax expense is comprised of: 

 

• US$1,886,360 (2018: US$1,787,873) in connection with the withholding tax 

deducted from dividend income from its Papua New Guinea equity 

investments; 

• US$368,006 (2018: US$496,171) in connection with the current income tax 

payable for a subsidiary; and 

• US$59,678 credit (2018: US$86,516 expense) in connection with the 

deferred income tax for a subsidiary. 

 

No Singapore income tax is payable on the basis that the dividend and interest 

income is not remitted to Singapore.  
  



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE 33

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

 

33 

6. Employee compensation 
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7. Income tax (continued) 

 

(a) Income tax expense (continued) 

 

The tax on results differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 

Singapore standard rate of income tax as follows: 

 

 

(b) Movement in current income tax (assets)/liabilities: 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 

 

Beginning of financial 

year (597,546) 982,281  - - 

 Tax expense 368,006 496,171  - - 

 Currency translation 

differences - (10,553)  - - 

 Income tax paid (48,395) (2,065,445)  - - 

 End of financial year (277,935) (597,546)  - - 

  

  Group  Company 

  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 

(Deficit)/surplus before 

income tax  149,630,629 (73,437,965)  152,915,509 (74,035,262) 

 

Tax calculated at 

Singapore rate 

applicable to income in 

Papua New Guinea at 

17% (2018: 17%) 25,437,207 (12,484,454)  25,995,637 (12,585,995) 

 Income not subject to tax (30,779,310) (2,256,200)  (30,234,365) (1,450,688) 

 

Expenses not deductible 

for tax purposes 7,479,979 16,762,730  6,376,604 16,058,759 

 

Effect of tax rates in 

other countries (251,516) (234,203)  (251,516) (234,203) 

 

Tax expense of 

subsidiaries 308,328 582,687  - - 

 Tax expense 2,194,688 2,370,560  1,886,360 1,787,873 

       

 Comprising:      

 

Dividend/interest 

withholding tax paid to 

the IRC of Papua New 

Guinea 1,886,360 1,787,873  1,886,360 1,787,873 

 

Current income tax 

expense 368,006 496,171  - - 

 

Deferred income tax 

(credit)/expense (59,678) 86,516  - - 

  2,194,688 2,370,560  1,886,360 1,787,873 
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8. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Cash and bank balances 10,393,020 13,022,678  4,601,074 9,073,518 

       

 Funds under management:      

 Cash held in investment funds 11,663,741 235,940  11,663,741 235,941 

 Certificates of deposit 34,806,626 93,162,775  34,806,626 93,162,774 

  46,470,367 93,398,715  46,470,367 93,398,715 

  56,863,387 106,421,393  51,071,441 102,472,233 

 
The Company has restricted access to cash and cash equivalents held in Papua New 

Guinea of US$447,560 (2018:US$735,458) and other assets held in Papua New Guinea as 

the tax authorities have declined to provide taxation clearance to remit funds overseas. 

 

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated cash flow statements, the consolidated cash 

and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

 

  Group 

   2019 
US$ 

 2018 

US$ 

      

 Cash and bank balances (as above)  56,863,387  106,421,393 
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US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Cash and bank balances 10,393,020 13,022,678  4,601,074 9,073,518 

       

 Funds under management:      

 Cash held in investment funds 11,663,741 235,940  11,663,741 235,941 

 Certificates of deposit 34,806,626 93,162,775  34,806,626 93,162,774 

  46,470,367 93,398,715  46,470,367 93,398,715 

  56,863,387 106,421,393  51,071,441 102,472,233 

 
The Company has restricted access to cash and cash equivalents held in Papua New 

Guinea of US$447,560 (2018:US$735,458) and other assets held in Papua New Guinea as 

the tax authorities have declined to provide taxation clearance to remit funds overseas. 

 

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated cash flow statements, the consolidated cash 

and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

 

  Group 

   2019 
US$ 

 2018 

US$ 

      

 Cash and bank balances (as above)  56,863,387  106,421,393 
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9. Financial assets 
 
  Group  Company 

  2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Current      

 In-house managed funds:      

 Financial assets, at amortised  
  costs 

  

 
  

 Bonds and certificates of deposit 16,209,028 35,969,078  - - 

 Total current 16,209,028 35,969,078  - - 

       

 Non-current      

 Funds under management:      

 Financial assets, at FVPL      

 Bonds and equity securities* and      

 funds 1,315,855,557 1,129,268,734  1,315,855,557 1,129,268,734 

       

 In-house managed funds:      

 Financial assets, at FVPL      

 Bonds and equity securities* 108,687,408 96,832,506  108,687,408 96,832,506 

 Total non-current 1,424,542,965 1,226,101,240  1,424,542,965 1,226,101,240 

       

 Total 1,440,751,993 1,262,070,318  1,424,542,965 1,226,101,240 

 
* Investments in listed equity securities. 

 
Funds under management 

 
The financial assets that are externally-managed comprised funds placed with various 

professional fund managers pursuant to investment management agreements and 

other direct investments in equity funds. To achieve diversification, funds allocated to 

different fund managers are invested in different asset classes to reduce overall portfolio 

risk. The Group can, pursuant to the terms, terminate the agreements by giving the 

requisite prior notice in writing to the fund managers. The professional fund managers 

are given discretionary powers within certain guidelines to invest the funds and these 

financial assets are managed on a portfolio basis and their performance evaluated on 

a fair value basis. 
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10. Other receivables 
 
  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Current      

 Loans and receivables 4,364,617 7,200,439  41,444,610 52,595,887 

 Other receivables 606,051 1,082,376  377,301 373,398 

  4,970,668 8,282,815  41,821,911 52,969,285 

 Less: Allowance for loan 

losses (2,744,284) (1,359,890)  (3,933,781) (3,322,207) 

  2,226,384 6,922,925  37,888,130 49,647,078 

       

 Non-current      

 Loan receivable from a joint 

venture (Note (i)) 15,980,150 11,006,228  - - 

       

 Total 18,206,534 17,929,153  37,888,130 49,647,078 

 

  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Loans receivable from subsidiaries:   

 Champion No. 34 Limited (Note (ii)) 37,166,376 49,086,155 

 PNG Sustainable Development Program (Australia) Pty 

Limited (Note (iii)) 2,954,705 2,118,007 

 Less: Allowance for loan losses (2,610,252) (1,930,482) 

  37,510,829 49,273,680 

 

(i) Champion No. 34 Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, is a 50% shareholder 

of a real estate joint venture in Papua New Guinea named Harbourside 

Development Limited. On 29 September 2017 the shareholders of the joint 

venture entered into a loan arrangement where each shareholder equally 

provided a loan of PNG Kina 33,615,323 directly to the joint venture at 6.5% 

interest per annum. The principal of the loan is repayable after 5 years from the 

date of draw down.  

 

At the balance sheet date, the fair value of the loan receivable from a joint 

venture is US$15,626,076 (2018:US$9,855,408) and is computed based on 

cash flow discounted at the interest rates at 6.5% per annum (2018: 6.5% per 

annum). The fair values are within Level 3 of the fair values hierarchy. 
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10. Other receivables 
 
  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  
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US$ 
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US$ 

 Current      

 Loans and receivables 4,364,617 7,200,439  41,444,610 52,595,887 

 Other receivables 606,051 1,082,376  377,301 373,398 

  4,970,668 8,282,815  41,821,911 52,969,285 

 Less: Allowance for loan 

losses (2,744,284) (1,359,890)  (3,933,781) (3,322,207) 

  2,226,384 6,922,925  37,888,130 49,647,078 

       

 Non-current      

 Loan receivable from a joint 

venture (Note (i)) 15,980,150 11,006,228  - - 

       

 Total 18,206,534 17,929,153  37,888,130 49,647,078 

 

  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Loans receivable from subsidiaries:   

 Champion No. 34 Limited (Note (ii)) 37,166,376 49,086,155 

 PNG Sustainable Development Program (Australia) Pty 

Limited (Note (iii)) 2,954,705 2,118,007 

 Less: Allowance for loan losses (2,610,252) (1,930,482) 

  37,510,829 49,273,680 

 

(i) Champion No. 34 Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, is a 50% shareholder 

of a real estate joint venture in Papua New Guinea named Harbourside 

Development Limited. On 29 September 2017 the shareholders of the joint 

venture entered into a loan arrangement where each shareholder equally 

provided a loan of PNG Kina 33,615,323 directly to the joint venture at 6.5% 

interest per annum. The principal of the loan is repayable after 5 years from the 

date of draw down.  

 

At the balance sheet date, the fair value of the loan receivable from a joint 

venture is US$15,626,076 (2018:US$9,855,408) and is computed based on 

cash flow discounted at the interest rates at 6.5% per annum (2018: 6.5% per 

annum). The fair values are within Level 3 of the fair values hierarchy. 
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10. Other receivables (continued) 
 

(ii) The loan receivable from Champion No. 34 Limited is interest-free, unsecured 

with no fixed repayment period and will be called upon when the subsidiary has 

the capacity to repay the loan. 

 

(iii) The loan receivable from PNGSDP (Australia) Pty Limited is interest-free, 

unsecured with no fixed repayment period and will be called upon when the 

subsidiary has the capacity to repay the loan. 

 

Loans and receivables (excluding prepayments and interest receivable) and other 

receivables are denominated in PNG Kina. The carrying amounts of loans and 

receivables, and other receivables approximate their fair values. 

 

 

11. Investments in joint ventures 
 
 

   Company 

    

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

      

Investment in PNG Energy Development     

Limited (“PNGEDL”), at cost   45,109,368 45,109,368 

Provision for impairment of 

investment in PNGEDL*    (45,109,368) (45,109,368) 

    - - 

      
* The impairment arose in 2013, following loss of income from Ok Tedi Mining Limited. The Company 

no longer has the capacity to fund the project.  

    

   Group 

    
2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 
 

Beginning of financial year    4,392,023 4,501,479 

Share of results after tax    77,753 73,890 

Currency translation differences   (89,760) (183,346) 

End of financial year    4,380,016 4,392,023 
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11. Investments in joint ventures (continued) 

 

The investments in joint ventures are represented by: 

 

  Group 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Share of net assets in PNGEDL - - 

 Share of net assets in Harbourside Development Ltd 4,380,016 4,392,023 

 Total 4,380,016 4,392,023 

 

The following amounts represent the Group’s share of the assets and liabilities and 

income and expenses of the joint ventures: 

 

  Group 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 - Assets  32,032,922   27,351,549  

 - Liabilities  26,864,386   22,131,503  

 - Revenue  2,909,038   2,803,958  

 - Net results 77,753   73,890  

 
Ok Tedi Mining Limited 
 
On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the Mining (Ok 

Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively expropriated all of 

PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and transferred 

the 63.4% ownership previously held by PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 

 

Effective from the enactment of the new law the share register of Ok Tedi Mining Limited 

was amended to reflect the new shareholding of the State in Ok Tedi Mining Limited 

and all references to PNGSDP in the constitution of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and in the 

Fifth Restated Shareholders Agreement of Ok Tedi Mining Limited were replaced, and 

the State required that effective from the date of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth 

Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 all references to PNGSDP were to be interpreted 

as referring to the PNG Government. 

 

There was no consideration paid to PNGSDP in respect of the shares which were taken 

over by the PNG Government. The above events in 2013 resulted in the recognition of 

an impairment loss of US$668,525,914 for the Group in that year. 
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11. Investments in joint ventures (continued) 

 

The investments in joint ventures are represented by: 

 

  Group 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Share of net assets in PNGEDL - - 

 Share of net assets in Harbourside Development Ltd 4,380,016 4,392,023 

 Total 4,380,016 4,392,023 

 

The following amounts represent the Group’s share of the assets and liabilities and 

income and expenses of the joint ventures: 

 

  Group 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 - Assets  32,032,922   27,351,549  

 - Liabilities  26,864,386   22,131,503  

 - Revenue  2,909,038   2,803,958  

 - Net results 77,753   73,890  

 
Ok Tedi Mining Limited 
 
On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the Mining (Ok 

Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively expropriated all of 

PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and transferred 

the 63.4% ownership previously held by PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 

 

Effective from the enactment of the new law the share register of Ok Tedi Mining Limited 

was amended to reflect the new shareholding of the State in Ok Tedi Mining Limited 

and all references to PNGSDP in the constitution of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and in the 

Fifth Restated Shareholders Agreement of Ok Tedi Mining Limited were replaced, and 

the State required that effective from the date of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth 

Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 all references to PNGSDP were to be interpreted 

as referring to the PNG Government. 

 

There was no consideration paid to PNGSDP in respect of the shares which were taken 

over by the PNG Government. The above events in 2013 resulted in the recognition of 

an impairment loss of US$668,525,914 for the Group in that year. 
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11. Investments in joint ventures (continued) 

 
PNG Energy Development Limited 
 
Pursuant to a shareholder agreement, PNGEDL is equally owned by PNGSDP and 

Origin Energy Ltd. The principal activity of PNGEDL is to implement and manage 

electricity and energy projects which are in line with the overall goals and objectives of 

PNGSDP. Origin Energy Ltd was providing technical expertise whilst PNGSDP 

provided funding for the projects. 

 

In 2013, a decision was made by the directors to impair the full value of the investment 

based on the fact that its key project, the Purari River Project is long dated and the scale 

of PNGSDP’s involvement in the future is uncertain given the Company no longer has 

the capacity to continue funding the project after the loss of its dividend income from 

the investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited. During the year the directors approved the 

handover of project intellectual property to PNG Power Limited and steps to commence 

the wind-up of the joint venture company. 

 
Harbourside Development Limited 
 
Champion No. 34 Limited has a 50% joint venture agreement with Steamships Trading 

Company Limited to own and operate an office complex on the waterfront in Port 

Moresby. The construction of this office complex was completed and the commercial 

letting of the premises commenced during the 2
nd

 half of 2016. The investment in this 

development was $9,330,000 which has been equity accounted in accordance with the 

Group’s policy for joint ventures. 

 

Details of the joint ventures are as follows: 

 

 

Name of joint venture Principal activities 
Country of 

Incorporation 

Effective 

Interest 

    2019 2018 

    % % 

      

 PNG Energy Development  

  Limited 

Development of  energy  

  projects  

 

Papua New Guinea 

 
50 

 

50 

      

 Harbourside Development  

  Limited 

Property development  

Papua New Guinea 

 
50 

 

50 

 

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.  
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11.  Investments in joint ventures (continued) 

 
Summarised financial information for PNG Energy Development Limited 
 

Set out below are the summarised financial information for PNG Energy Development 

Limited which is accounted for using the equity method. 

 
Summarised statement of financial position 
 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

Current    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,579,240 1,662,293 

Other current assets (excluding cash) - 4,475 

Total current assets 1,579,240 1,666,768 

   

Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 2,200 10,722 

Total current liabilities 2,200 10,722 

   

Net assets 1,577,040 1,656,046 

   

Interest in joint venture at 50% 788,520 828,023 

Impairment (788,520) (828,023) 

Carrying value - - 

 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 
 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

   

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (43,898) (13,390) 

Interest income 15,296 334,091 

Administration expenses (17,562) (53,752) 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  
  attributable to equity holders of the Company (46,164) 266,949 

 
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the 

joint venture (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in 

accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture. 
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11.  Investments in joint ventures (continued) 

 
Summarised financial information for PNG Energy Development Limited 
 

Set out below are the summarised financial information for PNG Energy Development 

Limited which is accounted for using the equity method. 

 
Summarised statement of financial position 
 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

Current    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,579,240 1,662,293 

Other current assets (excluding cash) - 4,475 

Total current assets 1,579,240 1,666,768 

   

Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 2,200 10,722 

Total current liabilities 2,200 10,722 

   

Net assets 1,577,040 1,656,046 

   

Interest in joint venture at 50% 788,520 828,023 

Impairment (788,520) (828,023) 

Carrying value - - 

 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 
 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

   

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (43,898) (13,390) 

Interest income 15,296 334,091 

Administration expenses (17,562) (53,752) 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  
  attributable to equity holders of the Company (46,164) 266,949 

 
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the 

joint venture (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in 

accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture. 
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11.  Investments in joint ventures (continued) 

 
Summarised financial information for Harbourside Development Limited 
 

Set out below is the summarised financial information for Harbourside Development 

Limited which is accounted for using the equity method. 

 
Summarised statement of financial position 
 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

Current    

Cash and cash equivalents 146 - 

Other current assets (excluding cash) 2,218,780 933,578 

Total current assets 2,218,926 933,578 

   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 52,842,205 40,928,262 

Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 884,368 3,324,022 

Total current liabilities 53,726,573 44,252,284 

   

Non-current   

Fixed assets 60,267,678 52,102,753 

Total non-current assets 60,267,678 52,102,753 

   

Net assets 8,760,031 8,784,047 

 
Net assets including the foreign currency 

translation differences 8,760,031 8,784,047 

Interest in joint venture at 50% and carrying value 4,380,016 4,392,023 

 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 
 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

   

Revenue from continuing operations 5,802,780 5,287,215 

Operating costs (5,572,834) (5,147,082) 

Profit before income tax 229,946 140,133 

Income tax expense/(credit) (74,441) 7,648 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  
  attributable to equity holders of the Company 155,505 147,781 

 
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the 

joint venture (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in 

accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture. 
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12. Investments in subsidiaries 
 
  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Unquoted investments at cost   

   South Fly AIC Limited*** 6,789,690 - 

   PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited 1 1 

   Impairment of PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited (1) (1) 

   PNG Sustainable Energy Limited  5,450,000  5,450,000 

   Impairment of PNG Sustainable Energy Limited (5,450,000) (5,450,000) 

   Champion No. 34 Limited 1 1 

   PNG Sustainable Development Program (Australia) Pty Limited 1 1 

   Champion No 53 Limited -** -** 

   Daru Port Development Company Ltd 31,914,150 31,914,150 

   Impairment of Daru Port Development Company Ltd (31,914,150) (31,914,150) 

   PNG Microfinance Ltd 1,940,787 1,940,787 

   Impairment of PNG Microfinance Ltd (1,940,787) (1,940,787) 

  6,789,692 2 

             ** less than US$1. 

  *** Incorporated during the year. 

 

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

 

Name of company Principal activities 
Country of 

incorporation 

Effective  

Interest 

     

    2019 2018 

    % % 

      

 South Fly AIC Limited Agriculture and     

  aquaculture activities in  

  Western Province 

Papua New 

Guinea 

87 - 

      

 PNG Sustainable Infrastructure  

  Limited 

Infrastructure   

 Projects (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 PNG Sustainable Energy Limited Development of energy  

  Projects (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 Champion No. 34 Limited Real estate and other  

  investment activities 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 PNG Sustainable Development           

  Program (Australia) Pty Limited 

Administration, accounting  

  and investment  

  management services 

Australia 100 100 

      

 Champion No 53 Limited Investment holding  

 company (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 PNG Microfinance Ltd Financial institution Papua New 

Guinea 

83 83 

      

 Daru Port Development Company 

Ltd  

Construction of port 

  facilities (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

 

On 30 August 2019, the Group’s Board of Directors approved the sale of its 83%-owned 

subsidiary, PNG Microfinance Limited. The disposal was completed on 31 January 

2020. 
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12. Investments in subsidiaries 
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2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Unquoted investments at cost   

   South Fly AIC Limited*** 6,789,690 - 
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   Impairment of PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited (1) (1) 

   PNG Sustainable Energy Limited  5,450,000  5,450,000 

   Impairment of PNG Sustainable Energy Limited (5,450,000) (5,450,000) 

   Champion No. 34 Limited 1 1 

   PNG Sustainable Development Program (Australia) Pty Limited 1 1 

   Champion No 53 Limited -** -** 

   Daru Port Development Company Ltd 31,914,150 31,914,150 

   Impairment of Daru Port Development Company Ltd (31,914,150) (31,914,150) 

   PNG Microfinance Ltd 1,940,787 1,940,787 

   Impairment of PNG Microfinance Ltd (1,940,787) (1,940,787) 

  6,789,692 2 

             ** less than US$1. 

  *** Incorporated during the year. 

 

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

 

Name of company Principal activities 
Country of 

incorporation 

Effective  

Interest 

     

    2019 2018 

    % % 

      

 South Fly AIC Limited Agriculture and     

  aquaculture activities in  

  Western Province 

Papua New 

Guinea 

87 - 

      

 PNG Sustainable Infrastructure  

  Limited 

Infrastructure   

 Projects (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 PNG Sustainable Energy Limited Development of energy  

  Projects (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 Champion No. 34 Limited Real estate and other  

  investment activities 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 PNG Sustainable Development           

  Program (Australia) Pty Limited 

Administration, accounting  

  and investment  

  management services 

Australia 100 100 

      

 Champion No 53 Limited Investment holding  

 company (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

      

 PNG Microfinance Ltd Financial institution Papua New 

Guinea 

83 83 

      

 Daru Port Development Company 

Ltd  

Construction of port 

  facilities (Inactive) 

Papua New 

Guinea 

100 100 

 

On 30 August 2019, the Group’s Board of Directors approved the sale of its 83%-owned 

subsidiary, PNG Microfinance Limited. The disposal was completed on 31 January 

2020. 
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13.  Property, plant and equipment  
 

Group  

Leasehold 

land 

US$ 

Construction-in-

progress 

US$ 

Total 

US$ 

2019    

Cost    
Beginning of financial year 200,808 - 200,808 

Additions - 10,089,548 10,089,548 

End of financial year 200,808 10,089,548 10,290,356 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

Beginning and end of financial year - - - 

    
Net book value    
End of financial year  200,808 10,089,548 10,290,356 
    
2018    
Cost    
Beginning and end of financial year 200,808 - 200,808 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

Beginning and end of financial year - - - 

    

Net book value    

End of financial year  200,808 - 200,808 
 

Company 

Leasehold 

land 

US$ 

Construction-in-

progress 

US$ 

Total 

US$ 

2019    

Cost    
Beginning of financial year 200,808 - 200,808 

Additions - 2,374,239 2,374,239 

End of financial year 200,808 2,374,239 2,575,047 

    
Accumulated depreciation    
Beginning and end of financial year - - - 

    
Net book value    
End of financial year  200,808 2,374,239 2,575,047 
    
2018    
Cost    
Beginning and end of financial year 200,808 - 200,808 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

Beginning and end of financial year - - - 

    

Net book value    

End of financial year  200,808 - 200,808 
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14. Sundry creditors and accruals 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Amounts due to:       

 Depositors of subsidiary 11,664,830 13,928,232  - - 

 Other non-related parties 2,618,697 9,416,983  1,905,131 8,488,366 

  14,283,527 23,345,215  1,905,131 8,488,366 

 
 
15. Deferred income tax 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 

right to offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when 

the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.   

 

Movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 

 Beginning of financial year 86,516 -  - - 

 (Credited)/charged to profit or loss  (59,678) 86,516  - - 

 End of financial year 26,838 86,516  - - 

 

The deferred tax liability of the group relates to temporary differences arising from 

accrued income in a subsidiary.  

 

 

16. Members’ subscriptions 

 
As a Company limited by guarantee, the Company does not have any issued shares or 

shareholders. At 31 December 2019, there are 4 (2018: 4) members of the Company, 

(Sir Mekere Morauta, Donald Manoa, Philip Bainbridge and Lim How Teck). Every 

member of the Company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company an 

amount not exceeding Singapore Dollar 10, in the event of winding up of the Company.  
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14. Sundry creditors and accruals 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Amounts due to:       

 Depositors of subsidiary 11,664,830 13,928,232  - - 

 Other non-related parties 2,618,697 9,416,983  1,905,131 8,488,366 

  14,283,527 23,345,215  1,905,131 8,488,366 

 
 
15. Deferred income tax 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 

right to offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when 

the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.   

 

Movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 

 Beginning of financial year 86,516 -  - - 

 (Credited)/charged to profit or loss  (59,678) 86,516  - - 

 End of financial year 26,838 86,516  - - 

 

The deferred tax liability of the group relates to temporary differences arising from 

accrued income in a subsidiary.  

 

 

16. Members’ subscriptions 

 
As a Company limited by guarantee, the Company does not have any issued shares or 

shareholders. At 31 December 2019, there are 4 (2018: 4) members of the Company, 

(Sir Mekere Morauta, Donald Manoa, Philip Bainbridge and Lim How Teck). Every 

member of the Company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company an 

amount not exceeding Singapore Dollar 10, in the event of winding up of the Company.  
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17. General Fund, Long Term Fund and Development Fund 
 

General Fund 
 

The General Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note     

2.1.12. 

 

  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Beginning of financial year - - 

 Other income - 3,003 

 Governance and administrative expenses** (2,400,514) (2,425,173) 

 Income transferred from Long Term Fund 2,400,514 2,422,170 

 End of financial year - - 

 

** The directors confirm that the total administrative expenses for the year are within 

the limit prescribed in the Program rules and do not exceed 15% of the average annual 

income of the immediate preceeding 3 accounting years. 

 
Long Term Fund 
 

The Long Term Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 

2.1.12. 

 

  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Beginning of financial year 1,349,371,594 1,407,152,434 

 Investment (loss)/gain – net 186,825,274 (31,055,204) 

 Investment and professional expenses (Note 5) (3,214,949) (6,123,868) 

 Withholding tax paid to IRC of Papua New Guinea (1,886,360) (1,787,873) 

 Impairment loss on long term assets (37,519) (1,391,725) 

 Income transferred to General Fund* (2,400,514) (2,422,170) 

 Income transferred to Development Fund* (45,000,000) (15,000,000) 

 End of financial year 1,483,657,526 1,349,371,594 
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17. General Fund, Long Term Fund and Development Fund (continued) 

 

Long Term Fund (continued) 

 

*In accordance with the clause 9.3 of the Program Rules this portion of income earned 

during the year was transferred to the General Fund to pay for administrative 

expenditure. The Program Rules allow the funding of operating expenses from 

investment income received by the Company on the Long Term Fund prior to mine 

closure. 

 

Development Fund 
 

The Development Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 

2.1.12.  

 

Following the expropriation of the Ok Tedi Mine the Company no longer receives any 

dividend income therefore the Development Fund will be used in accordance with the 

Objects of the Articles of Association and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit 

of the people of the Western Province. As such the allocation of the Development Fund 

between the Western Province Program Fund and the National Program Fund has been 

discontinued. 

 

  Company 

  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Beginning of financial year 20,561,384 39,995,912 

 Adoption of FRS 109 - (1,392,233) 

 Beginning of financial year 20,561,384 38,603,679 

 Investment (loss)/income 2,344,528 (34,156) 

 Investment expenses (Note 5) (35,300) (63,005) 

 Development expenses (29,991,956) (32,406,885) 

 Income transferred from Long Term Fund 45,000,000 15,000,000 

 Allowance for loan losses (Note 10) (574,055) (538,249) 

 End of financial year 37,304,601 20,561,384 
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17. General Fund, Long Term Fund and Development Fund (continued) 

 

Long Term Fund (continued) 

 

*In accordance with the clause 9.3 of the Program Rules this portion of income earned 

during the year was transferred to the General Fund to pay for administrative 

expenditure. The Program Rules allow the funding of operating expenses from 

investment income received by the Company on the Long Term Fund prior to mine 

closure. 

 

Development Fund 
 

The Development Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 

2.1.12.  

 

Following the expropriation of the Ok Tedi Mine the Company no longer receives any 

dividend income therefore the Development Fund will be used in accordance with the 

Objects of the Articles of Association and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit 

of the people of the Western Province. As such the allocation of the Development Fund 

between the Western Province Program Fund and the National Program Fund has been 

discontinued. 

 

  Company 

  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    

 Beginning of financial year 20,561,384 39,995,912 

 Adoption of FRS 109 - (1,392,233) 

 Beginning of financial year 20,561,384 38,603,679 

 Investment (loss)/income 2,344,528 (34,156) 

 Investment expenses (Note 5) (35,300) (63,005) 

 Development expenses (29,991,956) (32,406,885) 

 Income transferred from Long Term Fund 45,000,000 15,000,000 

 Allowance for loan losses (Note 10) (574,055) (538,249) 

 End of financial year 37,304,601 20,561,384 
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18.  Commitments  
 

(a)  Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessee 

 

The Group leases office space from non-related parties under non-cancellable 

operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses 

and renewal rights. 

 

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised as liabilities, are as 

follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Not later than one year 721,331 802,531  35,119 60,887 

 Later than one year but 

  not later than five 

  years 

 
 

1,213,843 

 

 

1,327,386  

 
 

- 

 

 

- 

  1,935,174 2,129,917  35,119 60,887 

 

As disclosed in Note 2.1, management has assessed that the adoption of FRS 

116 did not result in a material impact at the date of adoption and for the year 

ended 31 December 2019. Consequently, these lease payments were not 

recognised as ROU assets and the lease liabilities on the balance sheet as at 

31 December 2019. 

 

(b) Capital commitments 

 

Capital expenditures contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised 

in the financial statements are as follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Property, plant and 

equipment 12,331,825 -  411,890 - 

  12,331,825 -  411,890 - 

 

(c) Compensation commitments 

 

The Group was a party to various compensation agreements with landowners 

and other surrounding communities affected by the Ok Tedi mine. 

Compensation packages are denominated in the local currency and, in the 

majority of instances, are payable over the life of the open pit mine. 

 

Under these arrangements PNGSDP had an annual commitment to spend at 

least PGK 21,500,000 (US$6,654,250) or 2.5% of dividends declared each 

year, whichever is greater, in mine affected communities until mine closure date.  
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18.  Commitments  
 

(c) Compensation commitments (continued) 

 

The directors are of the view that there are no ongoing obligations in respect of 

the compensation agreements subsequent to the expropriation of the shares in 

Ok Tedi Mining Limited by the PNG Government as these are predicated on 

PNGSDP continuing as a shareholder in Ok Tedi Mining Limited and receiving 

dividends from Ok Tedi Mining Limited. 

 

 

19. Contingencies 
 

(a) Contingent liabilities 

 
The Shareholder Agreement between PNGSDP, PNG Microfinance Ltd 

(“PNGMF”) and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) was amended and 

restated on 22 May 2006 to cater for a subscription agreement between PNGMF 

and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) dated 24 June 2005.  IFC agreed 

on the terms and conditions set out therein and subscribed for approximately 

2,900,000 shares ("option shares") of PNGMF. As a condition for investing in 

PNGMF, the IFC entered into a Put Option Agreement with PNGSDP on 22 May 

2006.  The Put Option Agreement binds PNGSDP to acquire the option shares 

when IFC exercises the right to require PNGSDP to purchase any or all of the 

option shares. The Put Option Agreement specifies that the put option can be 

exercised by IFC when a "Put Triggering Event" occurs, such as default or non-

compliance by PNGSDP or PNGMF with any of its respective obligations, or 

any misrepresentation or breach of warranty by PNGSDP or PNGMF under the 

Shareholders Agreement. The Put Option effectively expired with the disposal 

of the IFC shareholding to the Group (Note 23). 

 

(b) Contingent assets  

 
On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the 

Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively 

expropriated all of PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi 

Mining Limited and transferred the 63.4% ownership previously held by 

PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 

 

The Company continues to seek restitution of the shares or compensation in 

respect of the shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited taken over by the PNG 

Government through the enactment of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental 

Agreement) Act 2013. As at the date of financial statements, the directors are 

of the view that the PNG Government owes to PNGSDP an amount 

representing, the fair value of its investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited as at 19 

September together with unpaid dividends that PNGSDP estimates would have 

been payable up until 19 September 2013. 
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18.  Commitments  
 

(c) Compensation commitments (continued) 

 

The directors are of the view that there are no ongoing obligations in respect of 

the compensation agreements subsequent to the expropriation of the shares in 

Ok Tedi Mining Limited by the PNG Government as these are predicated on 

PNGSDP continuing as a shareholder in Ok Tedi Mining Limited and receiving 

dividends from Ok Tedi Mining Limited. 

 

 

19. Contingencies 
 

(a) Contingent liabilities 

 
The Shareholder Agreement between PNGSDP, PNG Microfinance Ltd 

(“PNGMF”) and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) was amended and 

restated on 22 May 2006 to cater for a subscription agreement between PNGMF 

and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) dated 24 June 2005.  IFC agreed 

on the terms and conditions set out therein and subscribed for approximately 

2,900,000 shares ("option shares") of PNGMF. As a condition for investing in 

PNGMF, the IFC entered into a Put Option Agreement with PNGSDP on 22 May 

2006.  The Put Option Agreement binds PNGSDP to acquire the option shares 

when IFC exercises the right to require PNGSDP to purchase any or all of the 

option shares. The Put Option Agreement specifies that the put option can be 

exercised by IFC when a "Put Triggering Event" occurs, such as default or non-

compliance by PNGSDP or PNGMF with any of its respective obligations, or 

any misrepresentation or breach of warranty by PNGSDP or PNGMF under the 

Shareholders Agreement. The Put Option effectively expired with the disposal 

of the IFC shareholding to the Group (Note 23). 

 

(b) Contingent assets  

 
On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the 

Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively 

expropriated all of PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi 

Mining Limited and transferred the 63.4% ownership previously held by 

PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 

 

The Company continues to seek restitution of the shares or compensation in 

respect of the shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited taken over by the PNG 

Government through the enactment of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental 

Agreement) Act 2013. As at the date of financial statements, the directors are 

of the view that the PNG Government owes to PNGSDP an amount 

representing, the fair value of its investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited as at 19 

September together with unpaid dividends that PNGSDP estimates would have 

been payable up until 19 September 2013. 
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19. Contingencies (continued) 
 

(b) Contingent assets (continued) 

 

The directors of PNGSDP are reasonably confident that an eventual ruling on 

the matter before the courts (referred in Note 2.1.1) will be in favour of PNGSDP 

and have therefore disclosed this matter as a contingent asset. As at the date 

of approval of these financial statements, sufficient information is not available 

to reliably determine any eventual settlement amount. 

 

(c) Litigation 

 

The Company successfully defended the actions brought against it by the PNG 

Government in Singapore courts. The court ruled in favour of PNGSDP on all 

counts and as such the directors are satisfied that there is no immediate threat 

to the control over its assets and the future operations of the Company.  

 

 

20. Financial risk management 
 

Financial risk factors 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk 

and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 

The Group is also exposed to operational risks such as custody risk. Custody risk is the 

risk of loss of securities held in custody occasioned by the insolvency or negligence of 

the custodian. Although an appropriate legal framework is in place that eliminates the 

risk of loss of value of the securities held by the custodian, in the event of its failure, the 

ability of the Group to transfer securities might be temporarily impaired. 

 
The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to maximise the returns 

derived for the level of risk to which the Group is exposed and seeks to minimise 

potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. All securities 

investments present a risk of loss of capital. The maximum loss of capital is limited to 

the fair value of those positions.  

 

The management of these risks is carried out by the investment managers under 

policies approved by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors is responsible for 

setting the objectives and the underlying principles of financial risk management for the 

Group and the Company. The Investment and Finance Committee then establishes the 

detailed policies for reviewing each manager to ensure in accordance with desired role 

within the approved asset allocation and to assure appropriate due diligence has been 

conducted to satisfaction via an independent third party advisor.  
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

Financial risk factors (continued) 
 

The Group and Company has approved direct investments with 27 (2018: 11) managed 

funds to carry out investment activities in accordance with the investment policies and 

guidelines approved by the Board.  An Investment and Finance Committee of the Board 

has been established to monitor investment and risk management and the performance 

of the fund managers and managed funds. 

 
(i) Market risk  

 

(a) Price risk 

 

The Group is exposed to equity and bond securities price risk and 

derivative price risk. This arises from investments held by the Fund 

Managers for which prices in the future are uncertain.  

 

The Group’s policy is to manage price risk through diversification and 

selection of reputable and experienced Fund Managers that manages 

the securities and other financial instruments within specified limits set 

by the Board of Directors. A summary analysis of investments by nature 

is presented in Note 9. 

 
The majority of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded with 

good credit quality ratings. The Group’s policy requires that the overall 

market position is monitored by the Group’s Investment and Finance 

Committee and is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Board of 

Directors. Compliance with the Group’s investment policies are reported 

to the Board by the Investment and Finance Committee on a quarterly 

basis. 

 

At 31 December, the fair value of bonds and equity securities exposed 

to price risk were as follows: 

 

 Fair Value 

 2019  2018 

 US$  US$ 

Group    

Bonds and equity securities  

  designated at FVPL 1,424,542,965  1,226,101,240 

    

 Fair Value 

 2019  2018 

 US$  US$ 

Company    

Bonds and equity securities 

  designated at FVPL 1,424,542,965  1,226,101,240 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

Financial risk factors (continued) 
 

The Group and Company has approved direct investments with 27 (2018: 11) managed 

funds to carry out investment activities in accordance with the investment policies and 

guidelines approved by the Board.  An Investment and Finance Committee of the Board 

has been established to monitor investment and risk management and the performance 

of the fund managers and managed funds. 

 
(i) Market risk  

 

(a) Price risk 

 

The Group is exposed to equity and bond securities price risk and 

derivative price risk. This arises from investments held by the Fund 

Managers for which prices in the future are uncertain.  

 

The Group’s policy is to manage price risk through diversification and 

selection of reputable and experienced Fund Managers that manages 

the securities and other financial instruments within specified limits set 

by the Board of Directors. A summary analysis of investments by nature 

is presented in Note 9. 

 
The majority of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded with 

good credit quality ratings. The Group’s policy requires that the overall 

market position is monitored by the Group’s Investment and Finance 

Committee and is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Board of 

Directors. Compliance with the Group’s investment policies are reported 

to the Board by the Investment and Finance Committee on a quarterly 

basis. 

 

At 31 December, the fair value of bonds and equity securities exposed 

to price risk were as follows: 

 

 Fair Value 

 2019  2018 

 US$  US$ 

Group    

Bonds and equity securities  

  designated at FVPL 1,424,542,965  1,226,101,240 

    

 Fair Value 

 2019  2018 

 US$  US$ 

Company    

Bonds and equity securities 

  designated at FVPL 1,424,542,965  1,226,101,240 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(a) Price risk (continued) 

 

The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s and 

Company’s investments to equity and bond price movements as at 31 

December. The analysis is based on the assumptions that the Market 

Index changed by 5% (2018: 5%) with all other variables held constant. 

The impact below arises from the reasonably possible change in the fair 

value of securities held via fund managers. 

 

  2019  2018 

  Increase/(Decrease) 

  

Surplus from 
operations  

Deficit from 

operations 

  US$  US$ 

 Group    

 Managed by fund managers    

 - increased by 65,792,778   (56,463,437) 

 - decreased by  (65,792,778)   56,463,437 

     

 Managed in-house    

 - increased by 5,434,370  (5,120,157) 

 - decreased by  (5,434,370)  5,120,157 

     

 Company    

 Managed by fund managers    

 - increased by  65,792,778  (56,463,437) 

 - decreased by  (65,792,778)   56,463,437 

     

 Managed in-house    

 - increased by 5,434,370  (4,841,625) 

 - decreased by (5,434,370)   4,841,625 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(a) Price risk (continued) 

 

Diversification via fund managers may reduce sensitivity to market 

movements. The sensitivity analysis presented is based upon the 

portfolio composition as at 31 December and the historical correlation 

of the securities comprising the portfolio to the respective indices. The 

composition of the Group’s investment portfolio as managed by the 

Fund Managers is expected to change over time.  

 

(b) Currency risk 
 

The fund managers of the Group operate internationally and hold 

monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the US Dollar, 

the functional currency. Currency risk, as defined in FRS 107, arises as 

the value of future transactions, recognised monetary assets and 

monetary liabilities denominated in other currencies fluctuate due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  

 

Management monitors the exposure on all foreign currency 

denominated assets and liabilities. The table below summarises the 

Group’s assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency 

other than the United States Dollar. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(a) Price risk (continued) 

 

Diversification via fund managers may reduce sensitivity to market 

movements. The sensitivity analysis presented is based upon the 

portfolio composition as at 31 December and the historical correlation 

of the securities comprising the portfolio to the respective indices. The 

composition of the Group’s investment portfolio as managed by the 

Fund Managers is expected to change over time.  

 

(b) Currency risk 
 

The fund managers of the Group operate internationally and hold 

monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the US Dollar, 

the functional currency. Currency risk, as defined in FRS 107, arises as 

the value of future transactions, recognised monetary assets and 

monetary liabilities denominated in other currencies fluctuate due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  

 

Management monitors the exposure on all foreign currency 

denominated assets and liabilities. The table below summarises the 

Group’s assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency 

other than the United States Dollar. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(b) Currency risk (continued) 
 

The Group’s and Company’s currency exposure based on the 

information used by key management is as follows: 

 

 PGK EUR USD AUD Other Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Group       

2019       

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 5,895,230 5,339 50,597,394 344,197 21,227 56,863,387 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL 108,304,020 14,608,813 1,237,932,782 63,697,350 - 1,424,542,965 

Financial assets, at 

amortised cost 16,209,028 - - - - 16,209,028 

Other receivables  15,980,150 - 2,226,384 - - 18,206,534 

 146,388,428 14,614,152 1,290,756,560 64,041,547 21,227 1,515,821,914 

       

Financial liabilities       

Sundry creditors, 

accruals and 

provisions (13,058,880) - (1,237,331) (225,489) (26,784) (14,548,484) 

       

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities) 133,329,548 14,614,152 1,289,519,229 63,816,058 (5,557) 1,501,273,430 

Less: Net financial 
assets denominated 
in the Group’s 
functional currency - - (1,289,519,229) - - (1,289,519,229) 

Currency exposure 133,329,548 14,614,152 - 63,816,058 (5,557) 211,754,201 
 

 PGK EUR USD AUD Other Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Group       

2018       

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 4,685,660 (3,926) 94,910,129 6,808,563 20,967 106,421,393 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL 96,412,255 2,890,407 1,071,417,423 55,381,155 - 1,226,101,240 

Financial assets, at 

amortised cost 35,969,078 - - - - 35,969,078 

Other receivables  17,893,473 - 35,680 - - 17,929,153 

 154,960,466 2,886,481 1,166,363,232 62,189,718 20,967 1,386,420,864 

       

Financial liabilities       

Sundry creditors, 

accruals and 

provisions 

 

(21,881,607) 

 

- 

 

(1,389,559) 

 

(335,725) 

 

(92,787) (23,699,678) 

       

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities) 133,078,859 2,886,481 1,164,973,673 61,853,993 (71,820) 1,362,721,186 

Less: Net financial 
assets denominated 
in the Group’s 
functional currency - - (1,164,973,673) - - (1,164,973,673) 

Currency exposure 133,078,859 2,886,481 - 61,853,993 (71,820) 197,747,513 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(b) Currency risk (continued) 
 

 PGK EUR USD AUD Other Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Company       

2019       

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 447,737 5,339 50,597,394 - 20,971 51,071,441 

Financial assets, at FVPL 108,304,020 14,608,813 1,237,932,782 63,697,350 - 1,424,542,965 

Other receivables                           37,451,990 - 38,266 397,874 - 37,888,130 

 146,203,747 14,614,152 1,288,568,442 64,095,224 20,971 1,513,502,536 

Financial liabilities       

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (415,526) - (1,237,332) (225,489) (26,784) (1,905,131) 

       

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities) 145,788,221 14,614,152 1,287,331,110 63,869,735 (5,813) 1,511,597,405 

Less: Net financial 
assets denominated in 
the Company’s 
functional currency - - (1,287,331,110) - - (1,287,331,110) 

Currency exposure 145,788,221 14,614,152 - 63,869,735 (5,813) 224,266,295 

 
 PGK EUR USD AUD Other Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Company       

2018       

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

 

736,500 

 

(3,926) 

 

94,910,129 

 

6,808,563 

 

20,967 

 

102,472,233 

Financial assets, at FVPL 96,412,255 2,890,407 1,071,417,423 55,381,155 - 1,226,101,240 

Other receivables                           49,423,873 - 35,680 187,525 - 49,647,078 

 146,572,628 2,886,481 1,166,363,232 62,377,243 20,967 1,378,220,551 

       

Financial liabilities       

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (6,765,369) - (1,389,560) (240,650) (92,787) (8,488,366) 

       

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities) 139,807,259 2,886,481 1,164,973,672 62,136,593 (71,820) 1,369,732,185 

Less: Net financial 
assets denominated in 
the Company’s 
functional currency 

 

- 

 

- 

 

 

(1,164,973,672) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(1,164,973,672) 

Currency exposure 139,807,259 2,886,481 - 62,136,593 (71,820) 204,758,513 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the fund managers monitor the 

Group’s currency exposure on a daily basis, and the Investment and 

Finance Committee reviews it on a quarterly basis. The table below 

summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s investment portfolio to 

changes in foreign exchange movements at year end. The analysis is 

based on the assumptions that the relevant foreign exchange rate 

increased/decreased against the USD by the percentages disclosed in 

the table below, with all other variables held constant. This represents 

management’s best estimate of a reasonable possible shift in the 

foreign exchange rates, having regard to historical volatility of those 

rates.  

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE 55

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

 

55 

20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(b) Currency risk (continued) 
 

 PGK EUR USD AUD Other Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Company       

2019       

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 447,737 5,339 50,597,394 - 20,971 51,071,441 

Financial assets, at FVPL 108,304,020 14,608,813 1,237,932,782 63,697,350 - 1,424,542,965 

Other receivables                           37,451,990 - 38,266 397,874 - 37,888,130 

 146,203,747 14,614,152 1,288,568,442 64,095,224 20,971 1,513,502,536 

Financial liabilities       

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (415,526) - (1,237,332) (225,489) (26,784) (1,905,131) 

       

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities) 145,788,221 14,614,152 1,287,331,110 63,869,735 (5,813) 1,511,597,405 

Less: Net financial 
assets denominated in 
the Company’s 
functional currency - - (1,287,331,110) - - (1,287,331,110) 

Currency exposure 145,788,221 14,614,152 - 63,869,735 (5,813) 224,266,295 

 
 PGK EUR USD AUD Other Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Company       

2018       

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

 

736,500 

 

(3,926) 

 

94,910,129 

 

6,808,563 

 

20,967 

 

102,472,233 

Financial assets, at FVPL 96,412,255 2,890,407 1,071,417,423 55,381,155 - 1,226,101,240 

Other receivables                           49,423,873 - 35,680 187,525 - 49,647,078 

 146,572,628 2,886,481 1,166,363,232 62,377,243 20,967 1,378,220,551 

       

Financial liabilities       

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (6,765,369) - (1,389,560) (240,650) (92,787) (8,488,366) 

       

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities) 139,807,259 2,886,481 1,164,973,672 62,136,593 (71,820) 1,369,732,185 

Less: Net financial 
assets denominated in 
the Company’s 
functional currency 

 

- 

 

- 

 

 

(1,164,973,672) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(1,164,973,672) 

Currency exposure 139,807,259 2,886,481 - 62,136,593 (71,820) 204,758,513 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the fund managers monitor the 

Group’s currency exposure on a daily basis, and the Investment and 

Finance Committee reviews it on a quarterly basis. The table below 

summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s investment portfolio to 

changes in foreign exchange movements at year end. The analysis is 

based on the assumptions that the relevant foreign exchange rate 

increased/decreased against the USD by the percentages disclosed in 

the table below, with all other variables held constant. This represents 

management’s best estimate of a reasonable possible shift in the 

foreign exchange rates, having regard to historical volatility of those 

rates.  
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(b) Currency risk (continued) 

 

If the PGK changed against the USD by 4% (2018: 4%) with all other 

variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from 

the net financial asset position will be as follows: 

 

  Increase/(Decrease) 
  Surplus from 

operations  

Deficit from 

operations 

  2019 
US$  

2018 

US$ 

     

 Group    

 PGK against USD    

 - strengthened 5,333,182  (5,323,154) 

 - weakened  (5,333,182)  5,323,154 

     

 Company    

 PGK against USD    

 - strengthened 5,831,529  (5,592,290) 

 - weakened  (5,831,529)  5,592,290 

 

If the EUR change against the USD by 8% (2018: 4%) with all other 

variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from 

the net financial asset position will be as follows: 

 

  Increase/(Decrease) 
  Surplus from 

operations  

Deficit from 

operations 

  2019 
US$  

2018 

US$ 

     

 Group    

 EUR against USD    

 - strengthened 1,169,132  (115,459) 

 - weakened  (1,169,132)  115,459 

     

 Company    

 EUR against USD    

 - strengthened 1,169,132  (115,459) 

 - weakened  (1,169,132)  115,459 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(I) Market risk (continued) 

 

(b) Currency risk (continued) 

 

If the AUD change against the USD by 7% (2018: 11%) with all other 

variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from 

the net financial asset position will be as follows: 

 

  Increase/(Decrease) 
  Surplus from 

operations  

Deficit from 

operations 

  2019 
US$  

2018 

US$ 

     

 Group    

 AUD against USD    

 - strengthened 4,467,124  (6,803,939) 

 - weakened  (4,467,124)  6,803,939 

     

 Company    

 AUD against USD    

 - strengthened 4,470,881  (6,835,025) 

 - weakened  (4,470,881)  6,835,025 

 

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing 

levels of markets interest rates on the fair value of financial assets and 

liabilities and future cash flow. The Group holds fixed interest securities 

that expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group also 

holds a limited amount of floating rate securities, cash and cash 

equivalents that expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The 

Group’s policy requires the Investment Manager to manage this risk by 

calculating the average duration of the portfolio of fixed interest 

securities. The average effective duration of the Group’s portfolio is a 

measure of the sensitivity of the fair value of the Group’s fixed interest 

securities to changes in market interest rates. 

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE 57

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

 

57 

20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(I) Market risk (continued) 

 

(b) Currency risk (continued) 

 

If the AUD change against the USD by 7% (2018: 11%) with all other 

variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from 

the net financial asset position will be as follows: 

 

  Increase/(Decrease) 
  Surplus from 

operations  

Deficit from 

operations 

  2019 
US$  

2018 

US$ 

     

 Group    

 AUD against USD    

 - strengthened 4,467,124  (6,803,939) 

 - weakened  (4,467,124)  6,803,939 

     

 Company    

 AUD against USD    

 - strengthened 4,470,881  (6,835,025) 

 - weakened  (4,470,881)  6,835,025 

 

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing 

levels of markets interest rates on the fair value of financial assets and 

liabilities and future cash flow. The Group holds fixed interest securities 

that expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group also 

holds a limited amount of floating rate securities, cash and cash 

equivalents that expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The 

Group’s policy requires the Investment Manager to manage this risk by 

calculating the average duration of the portfolio of fixed interest 

securities. The average effective duration of the Group’s portfolio is a 

measure of the sensitivity of the fair value of the Group’s fixed interest 

securities to changes in market interest rates. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(i) Market risk (continued) 

 

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued) 

 

The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk arises from term 

deposits, commercial papers and bonds. The Group’s and the 

Company’s risk management policy is to invest in predominantly high-

quality, sovereign, long-term issues. Credit may be included in this 

allocation as well for increased yield and diversification purposes with 

the recognition that credit will not provide as strong of a hedge during a 

period of prolonged economic contraction. Low volatility absolute return 

strategies may also play a diversification role in this portion of the 

portfolio. 

 

At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, if interest rates had been 

5% higher/lower with all other variable constant there would not have 

been a material movement in the interest-bearing assets in the Group 

and Company. 

 
(ii) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual 

obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group and the Company. The major 

classes of financial assets of the Group and of the Company are cash and bank 

balances, receivables and financial instruments. For receivables due from third 

parties, the Group and the Company adopts the policy of dealing only with 

customers of appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient collateral where 

appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Group and the 

Company adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality 

counterparties.  

 

A BBB/Baa rating is the lowest rating a bond can have and still be considered 

an investment grade bond. An investment grade bond is a bond considered to 

have a relatively low risk of default. The bonds that the Group and Company 

have invested in 2019 were rated A and above (2018: A and above). The 

majority of unrated securities have been assessed by the fund managers to 

have credit quality consistent with the investment policies and guidelines 

approved by the Board of Directors for an investment grade bond. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial instruments and 

deposits with banks and financial institutions. For banks and financial 

institutions, the Group only transacts with independently rated parties with  high 

credit ratings. The investment in commercial papers and bonds are restricted to 

institutions in OECD member countries. 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the fund managers monitor the Group’s 

credit position on a daily basis and the Investment and Finance Committee 

reviews it on a quarterly basis. 

 

As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, with the exception of 

collateral held as security against loan advances to third parties by subsidiaries. 

The maximum risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount 

of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet. 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end is the carrying amount of the 

financial assets as set out below: 
 

  

2019 
US$  

2018 

US$ 

     
 Group    

 

Bonds, and funds and certificates of 

deposit 867,651,849  765,904,472 

 Cash and cash equivalents 56,863,387  106,421,393 

 Other receivables 18,206,534  17,929,153 

 Total 942,721,770  890,255,018 

     

 Company    

 

Bonds, and funds and certificates of 

deposit 851,442,822  729,935,393 

 Cash and cash equivalents 51,071,441  102,472,233 

 Other receivables 37,888,130  49,647,078 

 Total 940,402,393  882,054,704 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial instruments and 

deposits with banks and financial institutions. For banks and financial 

institutions, the Group only transacts with independently rated parties with  high 

credit ratings. The investment in commercial papers and bonds are restricted to 

institutions in OECD member countries. 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the fund managers monitor the Group’s 

credit position on a daily basis and the Investment and Finance Committee 

reviews it on a quarterly basis. 

 

As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, with the exception of 

collateral held as security against loan advances to third parties by subsidiaries. 

The maximum risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount 

of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet. 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end is the carrying amount of the 

financial assets as set out below: 
 

  

2019 
US$  

2018 

US$ 

     
 Group    

 

Bonds, and funds and certificates of 

deposit 867,651,849  765,904,472 

 Cash and cash equivalents 56,863,387  106,421,393 

 Other receivables 18,206,534  17,929,153 

 Total 942,721,770  890,255,018 

     

 Company    

 

Bonds, and funds and certificates of 

deposit 851,442,822  729,935,393 

 Cash and cash equivalents 51,071,441  102,472,233 

 Other receivables 37,888,130  49,647,078 

 Total 940,402,393  882,054,704 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Other receivables are impaired when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. 

The Group and Company considers a financial asset as in default if the 

counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days when they fall 

due, and impairs the financial asset when a debtor fails to make contractual 

payments greater than 360 days past due. Where other receivables are 

impaired, the Group and Company continues to engage in enforcement activity 

to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these 

are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Impairment provisions are determined based on collective assessment of loans. 

For the purposes of impairment provisioning under FRS 109 the Group and 

Company groups receivables in subsidiaries in accordance with their different 

credit risk and characteristics. The Group and Company does not use credit risk 

rating grades for subsidiary receivables, but rather monitors its loans based on 

days past due, which is consistent to the FRS 109 three stage approach. 

 

Individual receivables which were known to be uncollectible were written off by 

reducing the carrying amount directly. The other receivables were assessed 

collectively, to determine whether there was objective evidence that an 

impairment had been incurred but not yet identified.  

 

The age analysis of other receivables past due and/or impaired are as follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

  2019 2018  2019 2018 

  US$ US$  US$ US$ 

       

 Not past due 18,528,180 16,417,655  41,821,911 52,969,285 

 Past due < 3 months 462,237 1,113,867  - - 

 Past due 3 to 6 months 343,127 249,453  - - 

 Past due over 6 months 1,617,274 1,508,068  - - 

  20,950,818 19,289,043  41,821,911 52,969,285 

 Impairment allowance (2,744,284) (1,359,890)  (3,933,781) (3,322,207) 

  18,206,534 17,929,153  37,888,130 49,647,078 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 

The movements in credit loss allowance for financial assets are set out as 

follows: 

 

  Other receivables* 

  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    
 Group   
 Balance as at 1 January before adoption 1,359,890 1,761,538 

 Application of FRS 109 - 201,778 

 Balance as at 1 January 1,359,890 1,963,316 

    

    

 

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during 

the year on:   

 Assets originated  1,384,394 30,493 

 Reversal of unutilised amounts - (633,419) 

  1,384,394 (603,426) 

 Balance as at 31 December 2,744,284 1,359,890 

    

 Company   

 Balance as at 1 January before adoption 3,322,207 - 

 Application of FRS 109 - 1,392,233 

 Balance as at 1 January 3,322,207 1,392,233 

    

 

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during 

the year on:   

  -    Assets originated  611,574 1,929,974 

  -    Reversal of unutilised amounts - - 

  611,574 1,929,974 

 Balance as at 31 December 3,933,781 3,322,207 

 

* Loss allowance measured at lifetime ECL. 

 

Other than the above, there are no credit loss allowance for other financial 

assets at amortised as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.  
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 

The movements in credit loss allowance for financial assets are set out as 

follows: 

 

  Other receivables* 

  

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

    
 Group   
 Balance as at 1 January before adoption 1,359,890 1,761,538 

 Application of FRS 109 - 201,778 

 Balance as at 1 January 1,359,890 1,963,316 

    

    

 

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during 

the year on:   

 Assets originated  1,384,394 30,493 

 Reversal of unutilised amounts - (633,419) 

  1,384,394 (603,426) 

 Balance as at 31 December 2,744,284 1,359,890 

    

 Company   

 Balance as at 1 January before adoption 3,322,207 - 

 Application of FRS 109 - 1,392,233 

 Balance as at 1 January 3,322,207 1,392,233 

    

 

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during 

the year on:   

  -    Assets originated  611,574 1,929,974 

  -    Reversal of unutilised amounts - - 

  611,574 1,929,974 

 Balance as at 31 December 3,933,781 3,322,207 

 

* Loss allowance measured at lifetime ECL. 

 

Other than the above, there are no credit loss allowance for other financial 

assets at amortised as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.  
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Collateral and other credit enhancements 

 

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk, 

including accepting collateral for funds advanced, in case of asset finance loan 

receivables. The Group has internal policies on the acceptability of specific 

classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. 

 
The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be 

credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession 

of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-

impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses as at 31 

December 2019 and 2018 are shown below:  

 

   
Gross 

exposure 

 
Impairment 
allowance 

Net  
carrying 
amount 

Fair value of 
collateral 

held 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 2019     

 Loan receivable from a joint 

venture 15,980,150 - 15,980,150 - 

 Loans and receivables  4,364,617 (2,744,284) 1,620,333 5,414,954 

 Other receivables 606,051 - 606,051 - 

  20,950,818 (2,744,284) 18,206,534 5,414,954 

      
 2018     
 Loan receivable from a joint 

venture 11,006,228 - 11,006,228 - 
 Loans and receivables  7,200,439 (1,359,890) 5,840,549 8,662,750 

 Other receivables 1,082,376 - 1,082,376 - 

  19,289,043 (1,359,890) 17,929,153 8,662,750 
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20. Financial risk management (continued)  

 

(iii)  Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient 

cash resources to settle its obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so 

on terms that are materially disadvantageous. 

 

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and 

marketable securities, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  The 

Group maintains sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalents to meet its 

operating commitments. The Group also monitors liquidity in all asset classes 

and all investment managers to ensure medium-term and long-term liabilities 

can be met even in stressed environments. 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the 

Fund’s liquidity position on a daily basis; the Investment and Finance Committee 

reviews it on a quarterly basis. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued)  

 

(iii)  Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient 

cash resources to settle its obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so 

on terms that are materially disadvantageous. 

 

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and 

marketable securities, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  The 

Group maintains sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalents to meet its 

operating commitments. The Group also monitors liquidity in all asset classes 

and all investment managers to ensure medium-term and long-term liabilities 

can be met even in stressed environments. 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the 

Fund’s liquidity position on a daily basis; the Investment and Finance Committee 

reviews it on a quarterly basis. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

The Group manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in securities 

that it expects to be able to liquidate within 90 days or less. The following table 

illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held. 

 

  

1 to  

3 months 

3 to  

12 months  

More than  

12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Group     

 2019     

 Financial assets     

 

Cash and cash 

equivalents   56,863,387 - - 56,863,387 

 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL - - 1,424,542,965 1,424,542,965 

 

Financial assets, at 

amortised cost - 16,209,028 - 16,209,028 

 Other receivables 1,655,133 571,251 15,980,150 18,206,534 

  58,518,520 16,780,279 1,440,523,115 1,515,821,914 

 Financial liabilities     

 

Sundry creditors, 

accruals and 

provisions (10,875,661) (3,672,823) - (14,548,484) 

      

 Net financial assets 47,642,859 13,107,456 1,440,523,115 1,501,273,430 

 

  

1 to  

3 months 

3 to  

12 months  

More than  

12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Group     

 2018     

 Financial assets     

 

Cash and cash 

equivalents   106,421,393 - - 106,421,393 

 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL - - 1,226,101,240 1,226,101,240 

 

Financial assets, at 

amortised cost - 35,969,078 - 35,969,078 

 Other receivables 2,921,611 4,001,314 11,006,228 17,929,153 

  109,343,004 39,970,392 1,237,107,468 1,386,420,864 

 Financial liabilities     

 

Sundry creditors, 

accruals and 

provisions (18,002,967) (5,696,711) - (23,699,678) 

      

 Net financial assets 91,340,037 34,273,681 1,237,107,468 1,362,721,186 

 

The Group has certain financial assets in Papua New Guinea amounting to 

US$108,304,020 (2018:US$96,412,254). Access to these assets may be 

restricted if these assets are realised in the form of cash and cash equivalent in 

Papua New Guinea as the tax authorities have declined the Company's tax 

clearance applications to remit further funds overseas (Note 8).  
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

The Company manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in securities 

that it expects to be able to liquidate within 90 days or less. The following table 

illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held. 

 

  

1 to  

3 months 

3 to  

12 months  

More than  

12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Company     

 2019     

 Financial assets     

 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 51,071,441 - - 51,071,441 

 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL - - 1,424,542,965 1,424,542,965 

 Other receivables 371,849 37,516,281 - 37,888,130 

  51,443,290 37,516,281 1,424,542,965 1,513,502,536 

 Financial liabilities     

 

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (1,905,131) - - (1,905,131) 

 Net financial assets 49,538,159 37,516,281 1,424,542,965 1,511,597,405 

 

  

1 to  

3 months 

3 to  

12 months  

More than  

12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Company     

 2018     

 Financial assets     

 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 102,472,233 - - 102,472,233 

 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL - - 1,226,101,240 1,226,101,240 

 Other receivables - 49,647,078 - 49,647,078 

  102,472,233 49,647,078 1,226,101,240 1,378,220,551 

 Financial liabilities     

 

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (8,488,366) - - (8,488,366) 

 Net financial assets 93,983,867 49,647,078 1,226,101,240 1,369,732,185 

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | PAGE 65

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

 

65 

20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

The Company manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in securities 

that it expects to be able to liquidate within 90 days or less. The following table 

illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held. 

 

  

1 to  

3 months 

3 to  

12 months  

More than  

12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Company     

 2019     

 Financial assets     

 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 51,071,441 - - 51,071,441 

 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL - - 1,424,542,965 1,424,542,965 

 Other receivables 371,849 37,516,281 - 37,888,130 

  51,443,290 37,516,281 1,424,542,965 1,513,502,536 

 Financial liabilities     

 

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (1,905,131) - - (1,905,131) 

 Net financial assets 49,538,159 37,516,281 1,424,542,965 1,511,597,405 

 

  

1 to  

3 months 

3 to  

12 months  

More than  

12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Company     

 2018     

 Financial assets     

 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 102,472,233 - - 102,472,233 

 

Financial assets, at 

FVPL - - 1,226,101,240 1,226,101,240 

 Other receivables - 49,647,078 - 49,647,078 

  102,472,233 49,647,078 1,226,101,240 1,378,220,551 

 Financial liabilities     

 

Sundry creditors and 

accruals (8,488,366) - - (8,488,366) 

 Net financial assets 93,983,867 49,647,078 1,226,101,240 1,369,732,185 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(iv) Capital risk management 
 

The Company is limited by guarantee which means that it has no share capital, 

debentures, share options or unissued shares. The Group’s operations are 

governed by a set of rules and agreements that pertain to its unique structure 

and circumstances. 

 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure so as to promote sustainable development within Papua New Guinea, 

and advance the general welfare of the people of Papua New Guinea.  

 

The Long Term Fund (LTF) and The Development Fund are governed by the 

rules as described in Note 2.1.12.  

 

Project commitments and funding requirements are monitored on a daily basis 

by the finance department and reported to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

 
(v) Fair value measurements 

 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such 

as publicly traded derivatives and trading securities) are based on quoted 

market prices at the close of trading on the year end date. 

 

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take 

place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 

ongoing basis. 

 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active 

market is determined by using valuation techniques. The fund managers use a 

variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 

existing at each year end date. Valuation techniques used for non-standardised 

financial instruments such as options, currency swaps and other over-the-

counter derivatives, include the use of comparable recent arm’s length 

transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, 

discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation 

techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of 

market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. 

 

For instruments for which there is no active market, the fund managers may use 

internally developed models, which are usually based on valuation methods and 

techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. Valuation 

models are used primarily to value unlisted equity, debt securities and other 

debt instruments for which markets were or have been inactive during the 

financial year. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market 

observable and are therefore estimated based on assumptions. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(v) Fair value measurements (continued) 
 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that 

cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may 

not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the fund managers holds for 

the Group.  

 

Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional 

factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk. 
 

 The assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the 

following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

 

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (Level 1); 

 

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as-is prices) or 

indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 

 

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).  

  

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is 

categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, 

the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in 

its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require 

significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a 

Level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair 

value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors 

specific to the asset or liability. 

 

The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant 

judgement by the Fund. The Fund considers observable data to be that market 

data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 

verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are 

actively involved in the relevant market. 

 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets 

and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value at 31 December 2019. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(v) Fair value measurements (continued) 
 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that 

cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may 

not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the fund managers holds for 

the Group.  

 

Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional 

factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk. 
 

 The assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the 

following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

 

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (Level 1); 

 

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as-is prices) or 

indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 

 

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).  

  

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is 

categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, 

the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in 

its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require 

significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a 

Level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair 

value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors 

specific to the asset or liability. 

 

The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant 

judgement by the Fund. The Fund considers observable data to be that market 

data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 

verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are 

actively involved in the relevant market. 

 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets 

and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value at 31 December 2019. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(v) Fair value measurements (continued) 
 

All fair value measurements disclosed are recurring fair value measurements: 

 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 Group     

 2019     

 Assets     

 Financial assets, at FVPL 543,293,523 881,249,442 - 1,424,542,965 
 Total assets 543,293,523 881,249,442 - 1,424,542,965 
      

 2018     

 Assets     

 Financial assets, at FVPL 670,387,574 591,682,744 - 1,262,070,318 

 Total assets 670,387,574 591,682,744 - 1,262,070,318 

      

 Company     

 2019     

 Assets     

 Financial assets, at FVPL 670,387,574 555,713,666 - 1,226,101,240 
 Total assets 670,387,574 555,713,666 - 1,226,101,240 
      

 2018     

 Assets     

 Financial assets, at FVPL 670,387,574 555,713,666 - 1,226,101,240 

 Total assets 670,387,574 555,713,666 - 1,226,101,240 

 

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, 

and are therefore classified within Level 1, include active listed equities and 

exchange traded derivatives, US government treasury bills and certain non-US 

sovereign obligations. The Group does not adjust the quoted price for these 

instruments. 

 
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active 

but are valued based on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative 

pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within Level 2. 

These include investment-grade corporate bonds and certain non-US sovereign 

obligations, listed equities and over the-counter derivatives. As Level 2 

investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are 

subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity 

and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market 

information. 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(v) Fair value measurements (continued) 
 

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as 

they trade infrequently. Level 3 instruments include private equity and corporate 

debt securities. As observable prices are not available for these securities, the 

fund managers have used valuation techniques to derive the fair value. Per 

Group mandate, no funds are used for Level 3 investments (2018: Nil). 

 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables 

are assumed to approximate their fair values.  

 

(vi) Financial instruments by category  

 

The carrying amount of financial assets, at FVPL is as disclosed in Note 9 to 

the financial statements. 

 

The aggregate carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at amortised 

cost are as follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

  2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Financial assets, at 

amortised cost 91,278,949 124,350,546  88,959,571 152,119,311 

 Financial liabilities, at   

amortised cost 14,548,484 23,699,678  1,905,131 8,488,366 
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20. Financial risk management (continued) 

 

(v) Fair value measurements (continued) 
 

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as 

they trade infrequently. Level 3 instruments include private equity and corporate 

debt securities. As observable prices are not available for these securities, the 

fund managers have used valuation techniques to derive the fair value. Per 

Group mandate, no funds are used for Level 3 investments (2018: Nil). 

 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables 

are assumed to approximate their fair values.  

 

(vi) Financial instruments by category  

 

The carrying amount of financial assets, at FVPL is as disclosed in Note 9 to 

the financial statements. 

 

The aggregate carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at amortised 

cost are as follows: 

 

  Group  Company 

  2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

 Financial assets, at 

amortised cost 91,278,949 124,350,546  88,959,571 152,119,311 

 Financial liabilities, at   

amortised cost 14,548,484 23,699,678  1,905,131 8,488,366 
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21. Related party transactions 
 

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 

following significant transactions between the Group and Company and related parties 

during the financial year: 

 
Key management personnel compensation 

 

  Group  Company 

 

 

2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$  
2019 
US$ 

2018 

US$ 

       

 Directors – fees  634,131 687,194  611,622 639,419 

 Management salaries and other 

short-term benefits 959,836 837,054  - - 

  1,593,967 1,524,248  611,622 639,419 

 

There has been a Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment in the amount of 

remuneration payable to individual directors. 

 

 

22. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations 
 

Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 

standards that have been published, and are relevant for the Group’s accounting period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and which the group has not early adopted: 
 

Amendments to FRS 103 Business Combination (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2020) 

 

The amendments provide new guidance on the assessment of whether an acquisition 

meets the definition of a business under FRS 103. To be considered a business, an 

acquisition would have to include an output and a substantive process that together 

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. A framework is introduced to 

evaluate when an input and substantive process are present. To be a business without 

outputs, there will now need to be an organised workforce. 

 

The definition of the term ‘outputs’ is narrowed to focus on goods and services provided 

to customers, generating investment income and other income, and it excludes returns 

in the form of lower costs and other economic benefits. 

 

It is also no longer necessary to assess whether market participants are capable of 

replacing missing elements or integrating the acquired activities and assets. 

 

Entities can apply a ‘concentration test’ that, if met, eliminates the need for further 

assessment. Under this optional test, where substantially all of the fair value of gross 

assets acquired is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets), the 

assets acquired would not represent a business. 

 

These amendments are applied to business combinations and asset acquisitions with 

acquisition date on or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. The Group 

does not expect any significant impact arising from applying these amendments.  
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23. Events occurring after balance sheet date 
 

On 31 January 2020, the Group disposed of its 83% shareholding in PNG Microfinance 

Limited to another microfinance institution in Papua New Guinea. The transaction was 

structured to provide for the continuity of business and to safeguard depositors’ funds. 

Since the customer deposits of the company exceeded its loans and other assets the 

Group paid K1,457,000 (US$423,987) to the acquirer as working capital support, and 

also entered into a loan arrangement whereby the Group converted K4,000,000 

(US$1,164,000) of term deposits held with the company to a subordinated loan to 

improve its capital adequacy. The loan has a term of 30 months and accrues interest at 

1.25% per annum.  

 

On 26 March 2020, the Group subsequently bought IFC’s 17% shareholding for a 

consideration of K1 and immediately transferred those shares to the acquirer for no 

consideration.  

 

The World Health Organisation declared a pandemic in relation to the Novel 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) on 11 March 2020. The outbreak is causing unprecedented 

social disruption, and global economic and financial markets volatility. As the 

emergence of the situation is in its earlier stages, the full extent of exposures to and 

impacts on the Company are uncertain at this stage. However, the Group will continue 

to monitor the situation, take appropriate and timely actions to minimise the impact. 

Despite these actions it is anticipated there will be a significant adverse financial impact 

on the value of Funds under management and other investments due to COVID 19.  

The pandemic has resulted in greater uncertainty and volatility in financial markets 

around the world caused by: 

• The extent and duration of disruption to business arising from the actions of 

governments, business and consumers as they seek to contain the impact of the 

pandemic 

• The extent and duration of the expected economic downturn as a result of the 

disruption to capital markets, deterioration in credit, reduced liquidity, rising 

unemployment, reductions in demand for goods and services and other 

restructuring activities 

• The effectiveness of government and central bank measures taken to support 

business and consumers through this disruption and economic downturn. 

 

No other matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to the end of the reporting 

period that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 

Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent 

financial years. 

 

 

24. Authorisation of financial statements 
 

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of 

the Board of Directors of PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited  

on 21 May 2020. 
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23. Events occurring after balance sheet date 
 

On 31 January 2020, the Group disposed of its 83% shareholding in PNG Microfinance 

Limited to another microfinance institution in Papua New Guinea. The transaction was 

structured to provide for the continuity of business and to safeguard depositors’ funds. 

Since the customer deposits of the company exceeded its loans and other assets the 

Group paid K1,457,000 (US$423,987) to the acquirer as working capital support, and 

also entered into a loan arrangement whereby the Group converted K4,000,000 

(US$1,164,000) of term deposits held with the company to a subordinated loan to 

improve its capital adequacy. The loan has a term of 30 months and accrues interest at 

1.25% per annum.  

 

On 26 March 2020, the Group subsequently bought IFC’s 17% shareholding for a 

consideration of K1 and immediately transferred those shares to the acquirer for no 

consideration.  

 

The World Health Organisation declared a pandemic in relation to the Novel 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) on 11 March 2020. The outbreak is causing unprecedented 

social disruption, and global economic and financial markets volatility. As the 

emergence of the situation is in its earlier stages, the full extent of exposures to and 

impacts on the Company are uncertain at this stage. However, the Group will continue 

to monitor the situation, take appropriate and timely actions to minimise the impact. 

Despite these actions it is anticipated there will be a significant adverse financial impact 

on the value of Funds under management and other investments due to COVID 19.  

The pandemic has resulted in greater uncertainty and volatility in financial markets 

around the world caused by: 

• The extent and duration of disruption to business arising from the actions of 

governments, business and consumers as they seek to contain the impact of the 

pandemic 

• The extent and duration of the expected economic downturn as a result of the 

disruption to capital markets, deterioration in credit, reduced liquidity, rising 

unemployment, reductions in demand for goods and services and other 

restructuring activities 

• The effectiveness of government and central bank measures taken to support 

business and consumers through this disruption and economic downturn. 

 

No other matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to the end of the reporting 

period that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 

Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent 

financial years. 

 

 

24. Authorisation of financial statements 
 

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of 

the Board of Directors of PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited  

on 21 May 2020. 
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